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The Houston Exploration Company
(NYSE: THX), headquartered in
Houston, Texas began in 1986 as an
exploration and production company
focused principally on the offshore
Gulf of Mexico region. Today,
Houston Exploration produces
primarily in the Gulf of Mexico,
South Texas, the Arkoma Basin and
West Virginia, and explores primarily
in the Gulf of Mexico shelf and South
Texas. Significant growth potential

18 A

has come through the Company’s
extensive lease inventory in the Gulf
of Mexico. The inventory of offshore
high-potential exploratory prospects
is complemented by the inventory

of lower risk development and
exploitation drilling opportunities
onshore. Houston Exploration’s
operating strategy of having concen-
trated assets, a high working interest,
and a high rate of operatorship has
resulted in one of the lowest cost
operating structures in the sector.
Atyear-end 2001 the Company’s
reserves were 93% natural gas.

‘The Houston Exploration Company
entered the public market in 1996
and is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol THX.
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BUNCE
 Highlights

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS Years Ended December 31,
(In thousands of dollars except per-share data) 2001 2000 1999
Revenue $ 380,857 $ 272,333 $ 151,727
Net income $ 122,601 § 85,258 $ 24,621
Earnings per share-fully diluted $ 400 s 3.02 $§ 095
Discretionary cash flow'?® $ 313,108 $ 204,061 $ 103,708
Discretionary cash flow per share-fully diluted  $  10.22 $ 723 $ 3.6
Total Assets $1,059,092 ’ $ 837,384 $ 678,483
Total long-term debt and notes $ 244,000 $ 245,000 $ 281,000
Shareholders equity $ 565,881 $ 396,742 $ 217,590
Weighted average shares

outstanding-fully diluted 30,645 28213 28,310
OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS _
Averagé daily production (MMecfe/d) 246 218 195
Total production (Befe) 89.8 79.7 71.2
Net proved reserves (Bcfe) 608 562 541
Average realized gas price per Mcf s 424 § 337 $ 210
Capital expenditures $ 368,277 $ 184,512 $ 147,943

® The Company defines “Discretionary Cash Flow” as the sum of Net Income, Deferred Taxes, Depreciation, Depletion and

Amortization less Capitalized Interest.

@ For 1999, includes the aforementioned plus Interest Expense, net of tax, and Capitalized Interest that would have been fore

gone given the assumed conversion of $80 million in outstanding borrowing to KeySpan.




At year-end 2001, we acquired strategic
producing properties in our South Texas core
area. The $69 million acquisition of approxi-
mately 25,000 gross acres effectively doubles
the Company’s acreage position in this area,
increases our onshore reserve base by 85 Befe, or
30%, and provides substantial low-risk drilling

'opporru'nities, all without adding general and
administrative expense. As a result of this acqui-
sition, onshore assets now account for approxi-
mately two-thirds of the Company’s reserves and
half of our annual production.

In the offshore division, the Company
has concentrated operations in key areas on the
Gulf of Mexico shelf where there is considerable
existing infrastructure, providing efficiencies that
optimize operating and cash margins. During
2001, Houston Exploration drilled 20 wells, 14 of
which were successful, achieving a 70% success
rate. As a result of our efforts
to increase production and
bring 4 new fields on line, the
offshore division increased
production 30% to an aver-
age of 129 MMcfe/d com-
pared to 2000. At year-end,
the Company maintained a
substantial Jease position with
a total of 101 lease blocks in
the shallow waters of the
Gulf of Mexico, 59 of which were undeveloped
with substantial exploratory potential.

During the year, the Company significantly
increased our 3-D seismic data. We now have
regional data that covers most of our South Texas
properties. We also acquired 3-D seismic over
much of the undrilled potential in our existing
inventory, including three deep shelf exploration

prospects. The data allows us to more accurately
evaluate our leasehold, lease sales, farm-outs and
acqujsition(s. More importantly, the data provides
enhanced exploration risk assessment in advance
of the drill bit.

Having made operational, financial, organi-
zational and strategic progress in 2001, Houston
Exploration is attractively positioned for the 2002
gas price environment. We have a well-balanced
drilling portfolio, 3-D data to 'improve our
evaluation of drilling risk and a high working
interest position that allows us to maintain capita.l'
flexibility. Our balance of low-risk development
drilling onshore combined with higher impact
drilling offshore prepares us to grow our reserve
base and increase production in 2002 and beyond.

With our operating
drisions in place...,
we are poised to

benefit from market
conditions in 2002.

Additionally, our onshore and offshore oper-
ating divisions are supported by a 2002 capital
budget of 8250 million. In anticipation of the
present lower gas price cycle, we hedged approx-
imately 64% of our 2002 production with floor
prices averaging $3.40 per MMBtu, which pro-
tects our cash flow in the current price environ-
ment. With predictable cash flow we will con-
tinue to build our inventory and drill prospects
both onshore and offshore.

We also have the financial and organizational
resources to take advantage of acquisition oppor-
tunities that will arise as a result of current
gas prices. Our new acquisition function will
aggressively seek to acquire properties at attractive
prices. With our operating divisions in place to
integrate new assets, we are poised to benefit from
market conditions in 2002.

As we move forward,
we would like to recognize
the employees of Houston
Exploration for their con-
tributions to the Company
last year. We appreciate their
motivation and outstanding
performance during 2001, a
year of organizational transi-
tions and record operating
activity, which provided out-
standing financial results.
We would also like to recognize Craig G.
Matthews, who has elected to retire from our
Board of Directors. His sound business counsel

and dedication to Houston Exploration served
our Company and our shareholders well, and
he leaves with our deepest gratitude and respect.
Finally, we would like to thank our directors
for their support of The Houston Exploration
Company. We are confident that our progress in
2002 will earn the continued support and confi-
dence of our shareholders.

Sincerely,

QJ..,A 4@ Cize

Robert B. Catell
Chatrman of the Board of Directors

William G. Hargett
President and Chief Executive Officer




March 25, 2002

Dear Shareholder:

Houston Exploration is pleased to report
record operational and financial results for
the second consecutive year. We increased our
drilling activity, production, reserves, net income
and cash flow. We welcomed new leadership,
sharpened our operational focus through a cor-
porate realignment and substantially enhanced
our technological capabilities. We added signif-
icant onshore acreage to our portfolio, comple-
menting the contribution of our offshore opera-
tions. We are pleased to share with you these and
other highlights of this successful year, as well as
the strategy and programs that made it possible,
and to introduce our plans for 2002.

Houston Exploration’s achievements in
2001 demonstrate the effectiveness of our strat-
egy, which incorporates the
natural gas price cycle. While

price cycle. Taking advantage of high gas prices
early in the year, we invested a significant por-
tion of our capital in low-risk projects from our
inventory designed to generate immediate pro-
duction. We achieved the highest level of drill-
ing activity in the Company’s history, drilling
nearly 100 wells. Production in 2001 increased
13% to 90 Befe with an exit rate at year-end of
263 MMcfe/d, compared to record production
of 80 Befe and an exit rate of 256 MMcfe/d at
year-end 2000.

Our capital spending was fueled by the
second consecutive year of record cash flow,
even though natural gas prices dropped dramati-
cally from $9.75 per Mcf at year-end 2000 to
$2.55 per Mcf at year-end 2001. We protected the
Company’s cash flow from this decline with our

risk management program
using hedges and were able to

we are optimistic about the We achieved the moderate the cyclical nature
long-term prospects for nat- . of energy prices. Houston
ural gas based on its value to highest level of Exploration’s realized gas
the economy and the envi- drilling activity price in 2001 was $4.24 per
ronrnent, we recognize that ) Mcf, 26% higher than the
gas prices are highly cyclical, in the Company’s prior year’s realized gas price
so we manage our asset base history, drilling of $3.37 per Mcf.

and capital programs in con- ’ Our strong gas price real-
fluence with the price cycle. nearly 100 wells. izations, combined with higher
When gas prices are high, production levels, generated

we prefer to drill our ample
inventory of prospects, monetize our reserves,
strengthen the balance sheet and strategically
hedge gas forward to prepare for the next pric-
ing cycle. The hedges provide predictable cash
flow during low gas price periods, when we pre-
fer to balance drilling with acquisitions, farm-ins
and leasing, all typically available at lower costs.
Our asset base lends itself well to this strat-
egy. The vast majority of our assets, about 93%,
are natural gas producing properties concen-
trated in a few core operating areas. We operate
approximately 85% of our properties and plan
to retain a high working interest in our wells.
As a result, our talent and activities are tightly
focused, we have more control of the drilling
schedule, and we are able to maintain our low
cost structure. This gives us flexibility to manage
our business quickly and effectively, enhanc'mg
shareholder value throughout the price cycle.
Our impressive results in 2001 are a result
of capturing value throughout the natural gas

2001 cash flow totaling $313
million, a 53% increase over 2000 cash flow of
$204 million. Net income for 2001 totaled nearly
$123 million and marked a 44% increase over
2000 net income of $85 million. As a result,
Houston Exploration was able to strengthen
our balance sheet and create greater financial
flexibility to grow organically as well as through
acquisitions.

Organizationally, Houston Exploration
experienced a transition in leadership in 2001
We also realigned our operations by creating sep-
arate onshore and offshore operating divisions.
This new corporate structure allows each busi-
ness unit to focus on its own distinctive asset
base, capital requirements and growth opportu-
nities. We are pleased to report that each division
increased drilling activity over the prior year,
resulting in an overall 78% drilling success rate
in 2001. In addition, we created a separate acqui-
sition function to support each business unit’s
organic growth.
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n 2001, Houston Exploration realigned the Company’s operating structure and
formed two operating divisions, onshore and offshore, allowing each to concentrate
on its distinctive production and reserve base.

The onshore asset base of Houston Exploration includes 95% of the Company’s
active wells and accounts for approximately two-thirds of the Company’s reserves and
approximately half of its annual production. The Company operates approximately 85%
of its properties. The onshore activities provide for a stable and predictable platform for
growth. Most of the actual 2001 and the planned 2002 activity are concentrated in two
areas — Webb and Zapata Counties in South Texas and the Arkoma Basin.

Our primary onshore area of focus has been in South Texas. Acquired in 1996, the
Charco Field has delivered production growth from an average net rate of approximately

38 MMcfe/d in 1996 to an average net rate of approximately 83 MMcfe/d in 2001.




Since 1996, the Company has added reserves of 182 Bcfe, while producing 145 Befe.
In 2001, Houston Exploration utilized a three-rig program and successfully completed
29 of 36 wells, representing an 80% success rate. The Company plans to continue with a
similar drilling program through 2002.

At year-end 2001, Houston Exploration made a significant addition to its South
; Texas core area when it acquired 85 Befe in reserves for $69 million. South Texas
'; reserves increased by 50% and the 2002 net production is projected to increase 20%.
Adding approximately 25,000 gross acres nearly doubled the Company’s acreage posi-
tion in the area. This acreage provides a flour—year inventory of locations assuming one
rig drilling continuously in 2002. Because of its close proximity to existing operations at
Charco, this acquisition of producing properties added no additional general and admin-

istrative expense to the Company’s ongoing operations.
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Much of the Company’s past success in South Texas can be attributed to detailed
3-D seismic imaging of the Charco Field. To build on that success, Houston Exploration
acquired 1,200 square miles of 3-D seismic data in Webb and Zapata counties in 2001.
This investment helped the division in the analysis of its 2001 acquisition and is
expected to further enhance the Company’s drilling success rate and provide additional
drilling opportunities in the future.

The Company’s second core area is the Arkoma Basin. Houston Exploration drilled
31 successful wells in 2001 with an 89% success rate. This region has consistently pro-
vided the Company with low finding and development costs and continues to provide
many years of drilling inventory.

At year-end, the Company had identified approximately 100 additional drilling
locations in the Arkoma Basin with the present spacing, providing a 3 to 4 year inven-
tory. The Company plans approximately 30 wells in 2002 and because of the geologic
complexities, believes our fields will require closer spacing of wells in the future.
Regulatory approval of the tighter spacing will be requested in 2002 and upon approval,
could more than double the future locations. '

Both South Texas and the Arkoma Basin will be important for Houston Exploration
for many-years. The Company has the organizational focus, the people and the data to
continue unlocking the potential of these areas. An additional goal in 2002 is to develop

a third onshore focus. The Company is actively pursuing acquisitions and exploration

opportunities that can replicate its past onshore accomplishments.




NET PROVED RESERUES
12/31/01

Dffshore |

6688 BCFE

® At year-end 2001 — with
the acquisition of producing
properties in South Texas —
Houston Exploration’s reserve
base is approximately 60%
onshore and 40% offshore.

® Houston Exploration has achieved

compounded annual reserve

growth of approximately 13%

since January 1, 1997.

® In 2001, Houston Exploration
drilled a total of 76 wells
onshore with an 80% success rate.



2001
OPERATING MARGINS
($/Mcfe)

$4.24

REVENUE

CASH
FLOWD

Interest
G&A, net
LOE

Severance
taxes

Houston Exploration has consis-
tently had one of the lowest
operating cost structures in the
industry. The Company continues
its efforts to maintain or reduce
operating costs resulting in

consistently high cash margins.
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- Team Players

n the offshore division, Houston Exploration drilled 20 wells, 14 of which were
successful, achieving a 70% success rate. The Company focused its efforts on

increasing production during the year and for the full year offshore production
averaged 129 MMcfe/d, a 30% increase over 2000. The production increase in 2001 was
realized while maintaining operating costs at the same level as 2000 and resulted in a
24% decrease in operating costs on an Mcfe basis.

During 2001, the offshore division completed several development projects and,
in particular, the development of two oil fields discovered in 2000. Houston Exploration
completed the installation of a platform and related facilities at Vermilion 408. An addi-
tional development well was drilled and production from this field began early in 2002.
Gross rates from this field are expected to peak at 15-20 MMct/d and 6,000 BOPD.
The division has budgeted for additional exploratory work in this field during 2002.




The Company is also currently designing a platform and facilities for South Timbalier
314/317. This platform will be installed in the fourth quarter of 2002 and will establish
both aevelopment and exploratory drilling opportunities for our 2003 drilling program.
Production from the two existing wells is anticipated by year-end 2002.

To maintain a competitive advantage in the Gulf of Mexico, the exploration group
reviewed and addressed crucial and fundamental issues involving hardware and software
technology and data warehousing. The results of this review included the addition of new
seismic data to improve understanding of the risks of present prospects, more efficient
handling of data to improve prospect gene;ation and a renewed emphasis in optimizing
our exploration portfolio.

"The Company added 400 blocks of data to its in-house inventory in 2001. This data

will be used to further evaluate the Company’s exiting leasehold as well as acquisition
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and farm-in opportunities. At year-end, the Company held a total of 101 lease blocks
in the‘ shallow waters of the Gulf of Mexico, of which 59 are undeveloped.

Entering in>to 2002 the Company plans to use its extensive lease position
offshore as leverage to improve return on capital and reduce risk exposure. With the
addition of the new 3-D data the Company will actively participate in upcoming lease
sales as well as pursue industry farm-ins to expand its drilling inventory for 2003 and
beyond. To balance the exploration program the offshore division also plans a more
proactive approach towards acquisitions. Finally we will continue to optimize operating

efficiencies where possible to maintain our position as a low cost operator allowing the

company to effectively operate in the low portion of the price cycle.




Seismic courtesy of DIAMOND-PGS Geophysical Service Corporation

ouston Exploration invested to enhance its technological capabilities for its
onshore and offshore operations in 2001. The Company increased its 3-D
seismic database by licensing large blocks of high quality 3-D data within
core areas of the Gulf of Mexico shelf and South Texas. Additionally, the Company

invested in technical systems and software upgrades to improve its risk assessment

capabilities.

G e e e e

In South Texas, the regional 3-D data has already strengthened analyses at
the individual well, the field and the acquisition levels. It enabled the Company
g to accelerate the 2002 drilling program on its recent acquisition, identified new prospects
that will be drilled later in 2002 and delineated future leasing and farmout

candidates the Company is pursuing.




THE HOoWSTORN EHPLORATION COM™MPBARNTY

Offshore, the 3-D has provided a new view of the Company’s current producing
properties, detecting new drilling opportunities both on the Company’s acreage and
along trend. It is being used to confirm the present prospect inventory and is vital for
correctly evaluating acreage at lease sales this year and in the future.

The Company’s investment in new systems allows each interpreter to be more pro-

- | - ductive. These new efficiencies will result in better opportunities that are developed
faster while maintaining the Company’s low cost structure.

With improved prospect risk assessment, the Company will evaluate the appropriate

level of capital exposure on each exploratory prospect and incorporate the results into

our drilling program for 2002 and beyond. All of these measures are expected to have

an immediate and sustainable impact on finding and development costs.




® Houston Exploration’s operating
divisions provide a strong
production balance — with
year-end 2001 results reflecting
the Company’s average daily

rate below:

AVERAGE DAILY
PRODUCTION, NET
12/31/01

Offshore \
129 Onshore |

117
246 Mmcfe/d

® Houston Exploration has
achieved compounded
annual production growth
of approximately 23%
since January 1, 1997.

©® The Company’s total
reserve replacement since
January 1, 1997 has been 181%.

@ In 2001, Houston Exploration
drilled a total of 20 wells offshore
with a 70% success rate.
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All of the estimates and assumptions contained in this Annual Report and in the documents we have
incorporated by reference into this Annual Report constitute forward looking statements as that term is defined in
Section 274 of the Securities Act of 1993 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These forward-
looking statements generally are accompanied by words such as "anticipate,” "believe," "expect,"” "estimate,"
"project” or similar expressions. All statements under the caption "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" relating to our anticipated capital expenditures, future cash

Sflows and borrowings, pursuit of potential future acquisition opportunities and sources of funding for exploration
and development are forward looking statements. Although we believe that these forward-looking statements are
based on reasonable assumptions, our expectations may not occur and we cannot guarantee that the anticipated
Sfuture results will be achieved. A number of factors could cause our actual future results to differ materially from
the anticipated future results expressed in this Annual Report. These factors include, among other things, the
volatility of natural gas and oil prices, the requirement to take write downs if natural gas and oil prices decline, our
ability to meet our substantial capital requirements, our substantial outstanding indebtedness, the uncertainty of
estimates of natural gas and oil reserves and production rates, our ability to replace reserves, and our hedging
activities. For additional discussion of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, see "ltems 1 and 2. Business and
Properties" and "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
contained in this Annual Report.

In this Annual Report, unless the context requires otherwise, when we refer to "we", "us" or "our", we are
describing The Houston Exploration Company and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. Further, if you are not
SJamiliar with the oil and gas terms used in this report please refer to the explanations of the terms under the caption

“Glossary of Oil and Gas Terms" included on pages G-1 through G-3. When we refer to "equivalents," we are doing
50 to compare quantities of oil with quantities of natural gas or to express these different commodities in a common
unit. In calculating equivalents, we use a generally recognized standard in which one barrel of oil is equal to six
thousand cubic feet of natural gas.

Part L.
Items 1 and 2. Business and Properties
Overview

We are an independent natural gas and oil company engaged in the exploration, development, exploitation
and acquisition of domestic natural gas and oil properties. Our offshore properties are located primarily in the
shallow waters of the Gulf of Mexico, and our onshore properties are located in South Texas, the Arkoma Basin of
Oklahoma and Arkansas, South Louisiana, the Appalachian Basin in West Virginia and East Texas.

At December 31, 2001, our net proved reserves were 608 billion cubic feet equivalent, or Befe, with a
discounted present value of cash flows before income taxes of $714 million. Our focus is natural gas and
approximately 93% of our net proved reserves at December 31, 2001 were natural gas and approximately 74% of
our net proved reserves were classified as proved developed. We operate approximately 85% of our properties.

We began exploring for natural gas and oil in December 1985 on behalf of The Brooklyn Union Gas
Company. Brooklyn Union is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of KeySpan Corporation. KeySpan, a member of
the Standard & Poor's 500 Index, is a diversified energy provider whose principal natural gas distribution and
electric generation operations are located in the Northeastern United States. In September 1996 we completed our
initial public offering. As of December 31, 2001, THEC Holdings Corp., an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
KeySpan, owned approximately 67% of the outstanding shares of our common stock.

Our principal executive offices are located at 1100 Louisiana, Suite 2000, Houston, Texas 77002 and our
telephone number is (713) 830-6800.



Business Strategy

QOur strategy is to use our technical expertise to grow our reserves, production and cash flow through the '
application of a three-pronged approach that combines:

= high potential offshore exploration and exploitation;
= lower risk, high impact exploitation and development drilling onshore; and
o selective opportunistic acquisitions both offshore and onshore.

We believe that the lower risk projects and more stable production typically associated with our onshore properties
complement our high potential exploratory prospects in the Gulf of Mexico by balancing risk and reducing
volatility.

From January 1, 1997 through December 31, 2001, we increased our proved reserve base at a compound
annual growth rate of 13% and increased our annual production at a compound annual growth rate of 23%. During
the past five years, we produced a total of 355 Befe and added 641 Befe of net proved reserves. Of the total reserves
added, we added 376 Bcfe through exploration and development and 265 Befe through acquisitions. In total, we
replaced 181% of production through drilling and acquisitions, with 106% replaced through the drillbit alone.
During December 2001, our daily production averaged 259 million cubic feet equivalent, or MMcfe, per day.

We focus on the following elements in implementing our strategy:
High Potential Exploratory and Development Drilling in the Gulf of Mexico

We hold interests in 101 lease blocks, representing 496,955 gross (391,737 net) acres, in federal and state
waters in the Gulf of Mexico, of which 59 blocks are undeveloped. We believe we have assembled a four-year
inventory of offshore prospects. We plan to drill approximately eight exploratory wells in the Gulf of Mexico during
2002. Over the past five years, we have drilled 29 successful exploratory wells and 23 successful development wells
in the Gulf of Mexico, representing a historical success rate of 70%. Of our $250 million 2002 capital expenditure
budget, we anticipate that approximately $96 million, which excludes capitalized interest, capitalized general and
administrative costs and property acquisitions costs, will be spent on offshore projects. In addition, we intend to
continue our participation in federal lease sales and to actively pursue attractive farm-in opportunities as they
become available. Our management believes that the Gulf of Mexico remains attractive for future exploration and
development activities due to the availability of geologic data, remaining reserve potential and the infrastructure of
gathering systems, pipelines, platforms and providers of drilling services and equipment. Offshore properties
account for approximately 40% of our net proved reserves As of December 31, 2001. Cur average daily production
during December 2001 was 147 MMcfe per day, net to our interests.

Lower Risk, High Impact Exploitation and Development Drilling Onshore
We own significant onshore natural gas and oil properties in the following areas:

o the Lobo trend in South Texas,

o the Arkoma Basin of Oklahoma and Arkansas,

o the South Lake Arthur and Lake Pagie Fields in South Louisiana,
= the Appalachian Basin in West Virginia, and

= FEast Texas.

These properties favor exploitation and development drilling. Qur onshore properties account for
approximately 60% of our net proved reserves at December 31, 2001. Complementing the offshore properties, our
onshore properties are typically characterized by relatively longer reserve lives, more predictable production streams
and lower operating cost structures. Over the past five years, we have drilled or participated in the drilling of 191
successful development wells and seven successful exploratory wells onshore, together representing a historical
drilling success rate of 84%. We have identified an extensive inventory of more than 20 potential onshore drilling
locations, of which approximately 125 are located in South Texas. Of our $25€ million 2002 capital expenditure
budget, we anticipate that approximately $128 million, which excludes capitalized interest, capitalized general and
administrative costs and property acquisition costs, will be spent on onshore projects, including the drilling of
approximately 86 wells. Production from our onshore properties averaged 112 MMcfe per day, net to our interests,
during December 2001,



Opportunistic Acquisitions

- Our primary strategy to grow our reserves through the drillbit is supplemented by our continuing pursuit of
opportunistic acquisitions of properties with unexploited reserve potential. We believe we have a successful track
record of building our reserves through acquisitions onshore and in the Gulf of Mexico and successfully exploiting
the reserves acquired. We target properties that:

°  We can operate;

o are either in the Gulf of Mexico or onshore in our existing operating areas or in new geographic areas in
which we believe we can establish a substantial concentration of properties and operations; and

= provide a base for further exploration and development.

Use of Advanced Technology for In-House Prospect Generation

We generate virtually all of our exploration prospects through our in-house geological and geophysical
expertise. We use advanced technology, including 3-D seismic and in-house computer-aided exploration technology,
to reduce risks, lower costs and prioritize drilling prospects. We have assembled a library of 3-D seismic data,
covering approximately 98% of our undeveloped offshore lease blocks and other possible lease and acquisition
prospects in the Guif of Mexico. Onshore, our library of seismic data covers approximately 1,330 square miles of
our South Texas acreage and surrounding areas and approximately 100 square miles in South Louisiana. We employ
11 geologists and geophysicists with a combined industry experience averaging over 20 years. We use 14
geophysical workstations for interpretation of 3-D seismic data. The availability of 3-D seismic data at reasonable
costs has improved our ability to identify exploration and development prospects in our existing inventory of
properties and to define possible lease and acquisition prospects.

High Percentage of Operated Properties

Acquiring operating positions is a key component of our strategy. Currently, we operate approximately
85% of our properties, which accounted for approximately 80% of our production during 2001. We prefer to operate
our properties in order to manage production performance while controlling operating expenses and the timing and
amount of capital expenditures. We also pursue cost savings through the use of outside contractors for a portion of
our offshore field operations activities. During 2001, we realigned our internal operations into two distinctive
operating divisions, offshore and onshore, so that we could effectively manage specific projects and growth
strategies for each area. As a result of these operating strategies combined with our close monitoring of costs and
expenses, we achieved lease operating expense (excluding severance taxes of $0.12 per thousand cubic feet
equivalent, or Mcfe) of $0.28 per Mcfe of production and net general and administrative expense of $0.19 per Mcfe
of production for the year ended December 31, 2001.

Geographically Concentrated Operations

We currently operate in six areas of geographic concentration: the Gulf of Mexico, South Texas, the
Arkoma Basin, South Louisiana, West Virginia and East Texas. We continue to evaluate additional areas with the
goal of adding them in the future. By concentrating our operations into geographically focused areas, we are able to
manage a large asset base with a relatively small number of employees and to add and operate production at
relatively low incremental costs. Our strategy of focusing drilling activities on properties in relatively concentrated
offshore and onshore areas permits us to more efficiently utilize our base of geological, engineering, exploration and
production experience in these regions.




Recent Acquisition

Conoco Acquisition. On December 31, 2001, we completed the purchase of natural gas and oil properties
and associated gathering pipelines and equipment, together with developed and undeveloped acreage, located in
Webb and Zapata counties of South Texas, from Conoco Inc. The $69 million purchase price was paid in cash and
financed by borrowings under our revolving bank credit facility. The properties purchased cover approximately
25,274 gross (16,885 net) acres located in the Alexander, Haynes, Hubbard and South Trevino Fields, which are in
close proximity to our existing operations in the Charco Field, and represent interests in approximately 159
producing wells. We operate approximately 95% of the producing wells we acquired and cur average working
interest is 87%. With this acquisition, we have expanded and expect to improve our operations in South Texas which
have been an area of strategic growth for us over the last five years. During February 2002, the properties we
acquired produced approximately 19.0 MMcfe per day, net to our interests.

Keyspan Joint Venture

Effective January 1, 1999, we entered into a joint exploration agreement with KeySpan Exploration &
Production, LLC, a subsidiary of our majority stockholder, KeySpan, to explore for natural gas and oil over an
initial two-year term expiring on December 31, 2000. Under the terms of the joint venture, we contributed all of our
then undeveloped offshore acreage to the joint venture and KeySpan was entitled to receive 45% of our working
interest in all prospects drilled under the program. KeySpan paid 100% of actual intangible drilling costs for the
joint venture up fo a specified maximum per year and all additional intangible drilling costs incurred were paid
51.75% by KeySpan and 48.25% by Houston Exploration. Revenues are shared 55% Houston Exploration and 45%
KeySpan. In addition, we received reimbursements from KeySpan for a portion of our general and administrative
costs.

Effective December 31, 2000, KeySpan and Houston Exploration agreed to end the primary or exploratory
term of the joint venture. As a result, KeySpan will not participate in any of our offshore exploration prospects
unless the project involves the development or further exploitation of discoveries made during the initial term of the
joint venture. In addition, effective with the termination of the exploratory term of the joint venture, we will not
receive any reimbursement from KeySpan for general and administrative costs.

Since the beginning of our joint venture with KeySpan in January 1999, KeySpan has spent a total of $99.3
on exploration and development, with § 17.2 million spent during 2001, $46.5 miliion spent during 2000 and $35.6
million spent during 1999. During the initial two-year exploratory term of the joint venture, we received from
KeySpan a total of $7.3 million in general and administrative expense reimbursements, with $2.5 million paid
during 2000 and $4.8 million paid during 1999. Reimbursement for general and administrative expenses terminated
in 2000 with the expiration of the exploratory term of the joint venture.

During the initial two-year term of the joint drilling program, we drilled a total of 21 wells under the terms
of the joint venture: 17 exploratory wells and four development wells. Five of the wells drilled were unsuccessful.
During 2001, KeySpan participated in three additional wells, ali of which were successful, and further developed or
delineated reservoirs discovered during the initial term of the joint venture. For 2002, KeySpan has committed to a
capital budget of $15 million for development projecis associated with its working interests in welis drilled under
the joint venture during 1999, 2000 and 2001.
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Gulf of Mexico Properties

We hold interests in 101 offshore blocks, of which 33 are currently producing. We operate 24 of these
producing blocks, accounting for approximately 75% of our offshore production. The following table lists our net
proved reserves, average working interest and the operator for our largest offshore fields As of December 31, 2001.
These properties represent over 80% of our Gulf of Mexico proved reserves and approximately 75% of our offshore
production during 2001:

Net Proved Reserves at December 31, 2001

Average

Gas Ol Taotal Werking
Offshore Fields (MMef) (MBbIs) (MMefe) Imterest QOperator
Mustang Island Blocks A-31/32 ............ 63,077 188 64,205 100%  Company
West Cameron Blocks 76/77/60/61 ....... 25,048 182 26,140 15%  Third Party
South Timbalier Blocks 314/317 ........... 4,323 3,020 22,443 55%  Company®
East Cameron Blocks 82/83................... 14,917 120 15,637 100%  Company
Mustang Island Blocks 858/868............. 9,743 214 11,027 83%  Company
High Island Blocks 38/39......ccccvcvvveenne. 10,737 142 11,589 100%  Company
West Cameron Block 587 .........occveennene 10,594 — 10,594 64%  Third Party
Vermilion Block 408..........ccoo..urrreeernnns 2,316 1,102 8,928 31%  Company"
East Cameron Blocks 81/84................... 4,885 129 5,659 14%  Third Party
Matagorda Island Blocks 651/671/672 .. 5,595 2 5,607 67%  Company
North Padre Island Block 883................ 4,859 116 5,555 17%  Third Party
All Other Gulf of Mexico (13 fields)..... 30,657 807 5,499
Total Gulf of Mexico ....ccccevevurvereeeenannnn. 186,751 6,022 222 883

" Facility construction in progress at December 31, 2001.

Offshore Drilling and Development. During 2001, we drilied fourteen successful offshore wells: seven
exploratory wells and seven development wells. Unsuccessful wells totaled six: five exploratory wells and one
development well. Under the terms of our joint venture agreement with KeySpan, KeySpan opted to participate in
three wells during the year, all of which were prospects designed to extend or further delineate prior discoveries.
These projects consisted of a fourth development well at North Padre Island 883, a second exploratory well at South
Timbalier 314/317 and a second exploratory well at East Cameron 81/84, all of which were successful. In addition
to these KeySpan joint venture projects, we had exploratory success at East Cameron 83, South Marsh Island 253,
Galveston Island 241, High Island 39 and Matagorda Island 682. Development projects during 2001 included the
drilling of four development wells at our Mustang A-31/32 Field, one well at Galveston 252 and one well at the
West Cameron 76/77 Field.

For 2002, we plan to drill approximately eight offshore exploratory wells and approximately two to three
development wells. At December 31, 2001, we had one offshore well in progress: our third development well at
Vermilion 408. The well was successfully completed, tied-in and put on-line in early February 2002. Facilities and
pipelines were completed at Vermilion 408 during December 2001 and initial production from the two wells drilled
during 2000 began in early January 2002. Production from all three wells is currently averaging 10.5 MMcfe/day,
net to our interest. KeySpan has an interest in all three of these wells. We are currently drilling a fourth well at this
location. This well is exploratory and will test a new fault block to the southwest of our current discoveries.




Other offshore wells currently in progress include two wells at East Cameron 81/84, both of which are
exploratory and are being drilled by third parties. KeySpan is participating in both of these wells because the
prospects could possibly extend previously discovered reservoirs. Facility installation and hook-up of East Cameron
81 #13 is currently in progress and initial production is expected by the end of March 2002. East Cameron 81 #13
was an exploratory well drilled by a third party during 2001 and was the second well drilled at this location. The
first well, East Cameron 84 #1, was drilled and compieted by a third party during 1999 and is currently producing.
KeySpan also has an interest in both East Camercn 81 #13 and East Cameron 84 #1. A fourth development well,
East Cameron 81 #16 is planned for the second quarter of 2002. Facility construction is currently in progress at
South Timbalier 314/317. The first discovery well was driiled at South Timbalier 317 during 2000 and a second
exploratory well was drilled at South Timbalier 314 during 2001. KeySpan also has an interest in these wells. A
third well is planned for 2002. Initial production is expected during the first quarter of 2003.

Offshore Capital Spending. Capital spending associated with our Gulf of Mexico properties during 2001
was $201.6 million, including $67.2 million for exploratory drilling, $97.3 million for development drilling,
workovers and facilities construction and $37.1 million for leasehold costs, which includes capitalized interest and
capitalized general and administrative costs. We did not acquire any offshore producing properties during 2001. Of
our $250 million 2002 capital expenditure budget, we currently estimate we will spend approximately $96 million,
which excludes capitalized interest, capitalized general and administrative costs and property acquisition costs of our
capital expenditure budget of $250 million on offshore projects. KeySpan has commitied to a capital budget of $15
million in 2002 for development projects associated with its working interests in wells drilled under the joint venture
during 1999, 2000 and 2001.




Onshore Properties

We own significant onshore natural gas and oil properties in South Texas, the Arkoma Basin of Oklahoma
and Arkansas, South Louisiana, the Appalachian Basin in West Virginia and East Texas. These properties represent
interests in 1,330 gross (1,042.7 net) producing wells, approximately 85% of which we are the operator of record,
and 198,781 gross (126,448 net) acres.

The following table lists our average working interest and net proved reserves for our onshore areas of
operation As of December 31, 2001, representing all of our onshore reserves:

Av@]rgge Net Proved Reserves At December 31, 2001

Working Gas Oil Total
Ounshore Operating Areas Imterest (M Mef) (MBbls) (MMefe)
South Texas:
Charco Field ...covvirevieericcrreeecece s 100% 149,824 60 150,184
Alexander, Haynes, Hubberd and South Trevino Fields .. 87% 78,936 97 79,518
Total South TEXAS ...ccvvvvvevieereirenriesrre e erberens 228,760 157 229,702
Arkoma Basin:
Chismville/Massard Field (Arkansas) .........cccooovvrieevennane. 73% 94,099 — 94,099
Wilburton, Panola and Surrounding Fields (Cklahoma) .. 23% 6,812 — 6.812
Total Arkoma Basin.......coeevervririvrirnrenisieerencesieseeeeens 100,911 — 100,911
Other Onshore:
South Louisiana..........ccccveveeereneeeniereesereereresssiesessneernens 55% 21,690 269 23,304
Appalachian Basill..........cceceeveenircrirnneieninenisrenieeieesssesesnnns 60% 21,984 47 22,266
ESE TEXAS ... rerrvvererrvessensarenseessessrrarssesossnsssressessessassenseses 53% 8,112 11 8,772
Total Other Onshore.......ccocevieiiirccenniniescererneere s 51,786 426 54,342
Total ONSIMOTE covcveeeerecrrcvereeecrereseeseseesessetessesesesessassessssenas 38145 583 384,95

Onshore Capital Spending. We drilled or participated in the drilling of 61 successful onshore wells during
2001: 60 successful development wells and one successful exploratory well. During this same period, we drilled or
participated in the drilling of 15 unsuccessful wells: three exploratory and 12 development wells. Capital spending
associated with our onshore drilling program during 2001 was approximately $164.7 million, including $79.9
million for development, $4.9 million for exploration and $79.9 million for leasehold and producing property
acquisition costs, which includes $69 million spent to acquire producing properties located in South Texas from
Conoco Inc. in December 2001 (see Alexander, Haynes, Hubberd and South Trevino Fields, below).

Of our $250 million 2002 capital expenditure budget, we currently estimate we will spend approximately
$128 million, which excludes capitalized interest, capitalized general and administrative costs and property
acquisition costs, on onshore projects. For 2002, we plan to drill approximately 86 onshore wells: 56 wells in South
Texas and 30 wells in the Arkoma Basin. We believe we have identified enough additional development and
exploratory projects on our existing acreage to maintain an active drilling program for four years.



The following is a description of our onshore operating areas:
South Texas

Charco Field. The Charco Field is located in Zapata County, Texas. We acquired properties in the Charco
Field in July 1996. We own a 100% working interest in approximately 268 active wells in the Charco Field, all of
which we operate. Since the acquisition of the Charco Field in July 1996, we have used an active drilling and
workover program to increase production and reserves from the field. Production has more than doubled since July
1996, from an average of 38 MMcfe per day, net to our interest, to an average of 83 MMcfe per day, net to our
interest, during 2001. We have drilled 116 successful wells, added 182 Bcfe in reserves and produced 145 Befe
since the acquisition of the Charco Field. During 2001, we successfully drilled 29 development wells and seven
unsuccessful development wells. Production during December 2001 averaged approximately 78 MMcfe/day, net to
our interests. Subsequent to year end, we have successfully drilled and completed five development wells, drilled
two dry holes and are currently in the process of drilling three new development wells. Cur production has increased
to an average of 89 MMocfe/day, net to our interests, during February 2002. We are planning to keep two to three
drilling rigs operating in the Charco Field during 2002.

Alexander, Haynes, Hubberd and S. Trevino Fields. On December 31, 2001,we acquired from Conoco Inc.
interests in 159 producing wells together with developed and undeveloped acreage covering approximately 25,274
gross (16,885 net) acres. The properties we purchased are located in close proximity to our existing operations in the
Charco Field. The Alexander and Hubberd leases are in Webb County and the Haynes and South Trevino leases are
in Zapata County in South Texas. We are operator of approximately 95% of the wells we acquired and our average
working interest is 87%. A recompletion and drilling program began immediately after the closing of our acquisition
and cuirently we have three rigs in operation. Since January 1, 2002, we have commenced drilling of six wells: four
have been successfully completed, one was dry and one is currently drilling. Production from the newly acquired
wells is currently averaging approximately 19.0 MMcfe/day, net to our interests.

Arkoma Basin

Chismville/Massard Field. The Chismville/Massard Field is located in Logan and Sebastian Counties,
Arkansas. We own working interests in approximately 240 active wells, 150 of which we operate. Working interests
in these wells range from 11% to 100% and average approximately 73%. During 2001, we successfully completed
26 gross (17.1 net) development wells. In addition, we drilled or participated in four (1.7 net) unsuccessful wells.
During December 2001, production averaged 17 MMcfe per day, net to our interests. We plan to maintain at least
one drilling rig in the Arkoma Basin for the remainder of 2002,

Wilburton, Panola and Surrounding Fields. The Wilburton and Panola Fields are located in Latimer
County, Oklahoma. We own working interests in 58 active wells, of which we operate 18 wells, Working interests
in these wells range from 1% to 63% and average approximately 23%. During 2001, we drilled or participated in the
drilling of five (0.8 net) successful development wells. At December 31, 2001, we had a 1% working interest in one
well in progress in the South Panola Field that was a deep test of the Spiro formation. The well was drilled to 15,800
feet and subsequently deemed uneconomical. During December 2001, production averaged 4 MMcfe per day, net to
our interest.

Other Onshore Areas

South Louisiana. Our South Louisiana properties are primarily located in the South Lake Arthur and Lake
Pagie Fields, which are located in Vermilion and Terrebonne Parishes, respectively. We own interests in 53
producing wells, eight of which we operate. Working interests in these wells range from 2% to 70% and average
55%. During 2001, we drilled or participated in the driliing of three South Louisiana wells: one successful
exploratory well located in Acadia Parish with a working interest of 33% and two unsuccessful wells, one
development well with a working interest of 53% located in South Lake Arthur and one exploratory well with a
working interest of 15% located in Lake Pagie. During December 2001, production from our South Louisiana
properties averaged approximately 7 MMcfe/day, net to our interests.




Appalachian Area. The Belington, Clarksburg and Seneca Upshur Fields are located in Barbour, Randolph,
Upshur and Mingo Counties, West Virginia. We own working interests in 668 producing wells, substantially all of

which we operate. Working interests in these wells range from 6% to 100% and average approximately 60%. During
December 2001, production averaged 4 MMcfe per day, net to our interests.

East Texas. Our East Texas properties are primarily located in the Willow Springs and surrounding fields.
The Willow Springs Field is located in Gregg County, Texas, with the surrounding fields located in Panola and
Harrison Counties, Texas. We own working interests in 33 active wells, 28 of which we operate. Working interests

in these wells range from 3% to 100% and average approximately 53%. During December 2001, production
averaged 2 MMcfe per day, net to our interests.




Natural Gas and Qil Reserves

The following table summarizes the estimates of our historical net proved reserves As of December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999, and the present values attributable to these reserves at these dates. The reserve data and present
values were prepared by Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. and Miller and Lents, Ltd., independent petroleum
engineering consultants.

As of December 31,
Net Proved Reserves:® 2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)
Natural gas (MMOEE) .......oovcveremmeeeereeesesessssesesssesssssessessessssesssens 568,208 529,518 526,185
Oil (MBbls) 6,605 5,352 2,470
TOtAl (MIMICEE) e seeenessse e saeerese s s s 607,838  561,63¢C 541,005
Present value of future net revenues before income taxes® .......... $714,416 $2,725,913  $529,671
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows® ........ $551,525 $2,064,027 $469,225

() Netherland, Sewell & Associates prepared reserve data for our Gulf of Mexico properties and our South Texas
properties which represent present values of approximately 79%, 78% and 76%, respectively, of our reserves at
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999. Miller and Lents prepared reserve data for the remainder of our onshore properties
which represent approximately 21%, 22% and 24%, respectively, of the present values attributable to our proved
reserves at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

@ The present value of future net revenues attributable to our reserves was prepared using prices in effect at the end of the

respective periods presented, discounted at 10% per annum on a pre-tax basis. Average prices per Mcf of natural gas
used in making the present value determinations As of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 were $2.38, $9.55 and
$2.01, respectively. Average prices per Bbl of oil used in making the present value determinations As of December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999 were $17.78, $24.69 and $22.80, respectively. Amounts include the discounted present value of
our hedges in place at December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 of a positive $65.8 million, a negative $70.6 million and a
positive $1.6 million, respectively.

®  The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows represents the present value of future net revenues after
income tax discounted at 10% per annum and has been calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 69, "Disclosures
About Oil and Gas Producing Activities" (see Note 12 — Supplemental Information on Natural Gas and Gil
Exploration, Development and Production Activities (Unaudited)) and, in accordance with current SEC guidelines,
does not include estimated future cash inflows from our hedging program.

In accordance with applicable requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission, we estimate our
proved reserves and future net revenues using sales prices estimated to be in effect as of the date we make the
reserve estimates. We hold the estimates constant throughout the life of the properties, except to the extent a contract
specifically provides for escalation. Gas prices, which have fluctuated widely in recent years, affect estimated
quantities of proved reserves and future net revenues. Any estimates of natural gas and oil reserves and their values
are inherently uncertain, including many factors beyond our control. The reserve data contained in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K represent only estimates. Reservoir engineering is a subjective process of estimating
underground accumulations of natural gas and oil that cannot be measured in an exact manner. The accuracy of any
reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and
judgment. As a result, estimates of different engineers, including those we use, may vary. In addition, estimates of
reserves may be revised based upon actual production, results of future development and exploration activities,
prevailing natural gas and oil prices, operating costs and other factors, which revision may be material. Accordingly,
reserve estimates may be different from the quantities of natural gas and oil that we are ultimately able to recover
and are highly dependent upon the accuracy of the underlying assumptions. Our estimated proved reserves have not
been filed with or included in reports to any federal agency.
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Drilting Activity

The following table sets forth our drilling activity on our properties for the years ended December 31, 2001,

2000 and 1999.

Year Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
Gross Net Gross Net Graoss Net
Offshore Drilling Activity:
Exploratory:
Productive......cccceruneve. 7 4.4 8 3.0 6 14
Non-Productive............. 5 39 2 0.9 2 _1.0
Total.....cococveverrrnene 12 8.3 10 3.9 8 2.4
Development:
Productive.......ccceueuennee 7 49 6 3.3 8 5.5
Non-Productive............. 1 1.0 2 0.8 == -
Total......cccoereverrernnns 8 59 8 4.1 8 5.5
Onshore Drilling Activity:
Exploratory:
Productive.......ccccererenene 1 0.3 1 0.1 2 1.2
Non-Productive............. 3 1.0 — — — =
Total.....cccorreeernreennne 4 1.3 1 0.1 2 1.2
Development:
Productive........cccceemnns 60 46.9 44 36.5 31 24.3
Non-Productive............. 12 9.2 4 3.5 _6 _31
Total......ccoevveeernrennne 72 56.1 48 40.0 37 274
Productive Wells
The following table sets forth the number of productive wells in which we owned an interest As of
December 31, 2001,
Producing Company
Platforms Operated Wells Non-Operated Wells Total Productive Wells
Operated _ Non-Op Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
Offshore
Gas 29 11 50 41.3 23 5.7 73 47.0
Oil — — 2 1.1 — — 2 1.1
Total _29 i1 52 424 23 5.7 75 48.1
Cnshore
Gas 1,274 997.4 203 39.8 1,477 1,037.2
Qil 4 2.9 — — 4 2.9
Total 1278 1,000.3 203 39.8 1481 1,040.1

Productive wells consist of producing wells capable of production, including gas wells awaiting
connections. Wells that are completed in more than one producing horizon are counted as one well.
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Acreage Data

The following table sets forth the approximate developed and undeveloped acreage in which we held a
leasehold mineral or other interest As of December 31, 2001. Undeveloped acreage inciudes leased acres on which
wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that would permit the production of commercial quantities of
natural gas or oil, regardless of whether or not the acreage contains proved reserves:

Total Acres Developed Acres  Undeveloped Acres

Gross Net Gross Net Gross Net
Offshore™ ..., 496,995 391,737 208,359 125,659 288,636 266,078
Onshore ....vvvevvvnreeen. 198,781 126,448 184,060 119,759 14,721 6,689
o] 71 (TN 695,776 518,185 392,419 245418 303,357 272,767
M Offshore includes acreage in federal and state waters.

Marketing and Customers

We sell substantially all of our production at market prices. We normally sell production to a relatively
small number of customers, as is customary in the exploration, development and production business. However,
based on the current demand for natural gas and oil, we believe that the loss of any of our major purchasers would
not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. During the last three fiscal
years, we sold natural gas and oil production representing 10% or more of our natural gas and oil revenues as
foliows:

For the Year Ended December 31, _

Major Purchaser 2001 2000 1999

Dynegy Inc. 16.4% 22.5% 18.0%

Adams Resources and Energy, Inc 12.5% 14.9% 22.5%

El Paso Corporation'V 9.5% 9.1% 7.7%

> Amount purchased was less than 10% of our natural gas and oil sales revenues and is included for

information purposes only.

We enter into commodity swaps with unaffiliated third parties for portions of our natural gas production to
achieve more predictable cash flows and to reduce our exposure to short-term fluctuations in gas prices. Please read
Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — General" and
Item 7A. "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.”

We transport most of our natural gas through third party gas gathering systems and gas pipelines,
Transportation space on these gathering systems and pipelines is occasionally limited and at times unavailable
because of repairs or improvements as a result of priority transportation agreements with gas shippers other than us,
While our ability to market our natural gas has oniy been infrequently limited or delayed, if transportation space is
restricted or is unavailable, our cash flow from the affected properties could be adversely affected. Please read the
section entitled "Regulation" and "Risk Factors — Hazard Losses May Not Be Insured."
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Abandonment Costs

We are responsible for our working interest share of costs to abandon natural gas and oil properties and
facilities. We provide for our expected future abandonment liabilities by accruing for abandonment costs as a
component of depletion, depreciation and amortization as the properties are produced. As of December 31, 2001,
total undiscounted abandonment costs estimated to be incurred through the year 2013 were approximately $21
million for properties in the federal and state waters and we do not consider them significant for our onshore
properties. Our estimates of abandonment costs and their timing may change as a result of many factors including,
actual drilling and production results, inflation rates, and changes in environmental laws and regulations. See Note 1
— Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies — New Accounting Pronouncements, for a
discussion of prospective changes for accounting for abandonment costs under Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations".

The Minerals Management Service requires lessees of outer continental shelf properties to post bonds in
connection with the plugging and abandonment of wells located offshore and the removal of all production facilities.
Operators in the outer continental shelf waters of the Gulf of Mexico are currently required to post an area-wide
bond of $3 million or $500,000 per producing lease. We are presently exempt from any requirement by the Minerals
Management Service to provide supplemental bonding on our offshore leases, although we may not be able to
continue to satisfy the requirements for this exemption in the future. We believe that even if we did not qualify for
this exemption, the cost of any bonding requirements would not materially affect our financial condition or results of
operations. The Minerals Management Service has the authority to suspend or terminate operations on federal leases
for failure to comply with applicable bonding requirements or other regulations applicable to plugging and
abandonment. Any suspensions or terminations of our operations could have a material adverse effect on our
financial condition and results of operations.

Title to Properties

As is customary in the oil and gas industry, we conduct only a cursory review of title to farm-out acreage
and to undeveloped natural gas and oil leases upon execution of the asset purchase contracts. Prior to the
commencement of drilling operations, we conduct a thorough title examination and perform curative work with
respect to significant defects. To the extent title opinions or other investigations reflect title defects, we, rather than
the seller of the undeveloped property, are typically responsible for curing any title defects at our expense. If we
were unable to remedy or cure any title defect of a nature such that it would not be prudent to commence drilling
operations on the property, we could suffer a loss of our entire investment in the property. We have obtained title
opinions on substantially all of our producing properties and believe that we have satisfactory title to these
properties in accordance with standards generally accepted in the oil and gas industry. Prior to completing an
acquisition of producing natural gas and oil leases, we obtain title opinions on the most significant leases. Cur
natural gas and oil properties are subject to customary royalty interests, liens for current taxes and other burdens
which we believe do not materially interfere with the use of or affect the value of the properties.

Third Party Contractors

In an effort to control offshore operating costs, we entered into a contract with Grasso Production
Management, Inc. pursuant to which Grasso provides us with professional services relating to the supervision of the
daily production operations and field personne! to operate and maintain production facilities. Our contract with
Grasso was effective December 2001. From 1989 to December 2001, we maintained a similar contractual
arrangement for offshore services with Operators & Consulting Services. In addition to assisting us with daily
production operations, Operators & Consulting Services provided engineering and field supervision for well design,
drilling, completion and workover operations and coordination and review of third party engineering and fabrication
work, and installation supervision of platforms, production facilities and pipelines. These functions are now
performed by our own offshore engineering department.
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Competition

We encounter intense competition from other oil and gas companies in all areas of our operations,
including the acquisition of producing properties and proved undeveloped acreage. Cur competitors include major
integrated oil and gas companies and numerous independent oil and gas companies, individuals and drilling and
income programs. Many of our competitors are large, well-established companies with substantially larger operating
staffs and greater capital resources than our own and which, in many instances, have been engaged in the oil and gas
business for a much longer time than we have. These companies may be able to pay more for productive natural gas
and oil properties and exploratory prospects and to define, evaluate, bid for and purchase a greater number of
properties and prospects than our financial or human resources permit. Qur ability to acquire additional properties
and to discover reserves in the future will be dependent upon our ability to evaluate and select suitable properties
and to consumimate transactions in this highly competitive environment.

Operating Hazards and Uninsured Risks

In our operations we may experience hazards and risks inherent in drilling for, producing and transporting
of natural gas and oil. These hazards and risks may result in loss of hydrocarbons, environmental pollution, personal
injury claims, and other damage to our properties and third parties and include:

o fires,

= natural disasters,

= explosions,

s encountering formations with abnormal pressures,
= blowouts,

o cratering,

c pipeline ruptures, and

= gpills.

Additionally, our natural gas and oil operations located in the Gulf of Mexico may experience tropical weather
disturbances, some of which can be severe enough to cause substantial damage to facilities and possibly interrupt
production. As protection against operating hazards, we maintain insurance coverage against some, but not all,
potential losses. Our coverage includes, but is not limited to, the operator's extra expense to include loss of well,
blowouts and costs of pollution control, physical damage on assets, employer's liability, comprehensive general
liability, automobile liability and worker's compensation. We believe that our insurance is adequate and customary
for companies of a similar size engaged in operations similar to ours, but losses could occur for uninsurable or
uninsured risks or in amounts in excess of existing insurance coverage. The occurrence of an event that is not fully
covered by insurance could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations.

Regulation

The oil and gas industry is extensively regulated by numerous federal, state and local authorities.
Legislation affecting the oil and gas industry is under constant review for amendment or expansion, frequently
increasing the regulatory burden. Also, numerous departments and agencies, both federal and state, are authorized
by statute to issue rules and regulations binding on the oil and gas indusiry and its individual members, some of
which carry substantial penalties for failure to comply. Although the regulatory burden on the oil and gas industry
increases our cost of doing business and, consequently, affects our profitability, generally, these burdens do not
appear to affect us any differently or to any greater or lesser extent than they affect other companies in the industry
with similar types, quantities and locations of production.
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Drilling and Production. Our operations are subject to various types of regulation at federal, state and local
levels. These types of regulation include requiring permits for the drilling of wells, drilling bonds and reports
concerning operations. Most states in which we operate also regulate:

= the location of wells,

= the method of drilling and casing wells,

= the surface use and restoration of properties upon which wells are drilled, and
o the plugging and abandoning of wells.

State laws regulate the size and shape of drilling and spacing units or proration pooling of cil and gas
properties. Some states allow forced pooling or integration of tracts to facilitate exploration while other states rely
on voluntary pooling of lands and leases. In addition, state conservation laws establish maximum rates of production
from oil and gas wells, generally prohibit the venting or flaring of natural gas and impose requirements regarding the
ratability of production. These regulations may limit the amount of oil and gas we can produce from our wells or
limit the number of wells or the locations at which we can drill.

We conduct our operations in the Gulf of Mexico on oil and natural gas leases which are granted by the
U.S. federal government and are administered by the Minerals Management Service. The Minerals Management
Service issues leases through competitive bidding. The lease contracts contain relatively standardized terms and
require compliance with detailed regulations of the Minerals Management Service. For offshore operations, lessees
must obtain Minerals Management Service approval for exploration plans and development and production plans
prior to the commencement of the operations. In addition to permits required from other agencies, such as the Coast
Guard, the Army Corps of Engineers and the Environmental Protection Agency, lessees must obtain a permit from
the Minerals Management Service prior to the commencement of drilling.

The Minerals Management Service has promulgated regulations requiring offshore production facilities
located on the outer continental shelf to meet stringent engineering and construction specifications, and has recently
proposed additional safety-related regulations concerning the design and the operating procedures for outer
continental shelf production platforms and pipelines. The Minerals Management Service also has issued regulations
restricting the flaring or venting of natural gas, and has recently proposed to amend these regulations to prohibit the
flaring of liquid hydrocarbons and oil without prior authorization. Similarly, the Minerals Management Service has
promulgated other regulations governing the plugging and abandonment of wells located offshore and the removal
of all production facilities. To cover the various obligations of lessees on the outer continental shelf, the Minerals
Management Service generally requires that lessees post substantial bonds or other acceptable assurances that these
obligations will be met. The Cuter Continental Shelf Lands Act may generally impose liabilities on us for our
offshore operations conducted on federal leases for clean-up costs and damages caused by pollution resulting from
our operations. Under circumstances such as conditions deemed to be a threat or harm to the environment, the
Minerals Management Service may suspend or terminate any of our operations in the affected area.
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Environmental Matters and Regulation.

General. Our operations must comply with federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the discharge of
materials into the environment or otherwise relating to environmental protection. These laws and regulations may:

> require the acquisition of a permit before drilling commences,

o restrict the types, quantities and concentration of various substances that can be released into the
environment in connection with drilling and production activities,

= limit or prohibit drilling activities on lands lying within wilderness, wetlands and other protected areas,

= require remedial measures to prevent pollution from former operations, such as pit closure and plugging
of abandoned wells, and

= impose substantial liabilities for pollution resulting from our operations.

These laws, rules and regulations may also restrict the rate of oil and natural gas production below the rate
that would otherwise be possible. The regulatory burden on the oil and gas indusiry increases the cost of doing
business in the industry and consequently affects profitability. Additionally, Congress and the federal and state
agencies frequently revise the environmental laws and regulations. Any changes that result in more stringent and
costly waste handling, disposal and clean-up requirements could have a significant impact on the oil and gas
industry's operating costs, including ours. We believe that we substantially comply with all current applicable
environmental laws and regulations and that our continued compliance with existing requirements will not have a
material adverse impact on our financial condition and results of operations. However, we cannot predict the
passage of or quantify the potential impact of more stringent future laws and regulations at this time.

Resource Conservation and Recovery Act. The Resource Conservation and Recovery Act affects oil and
gas production activities by imposing regulations on the generation, transportation, treatment, storage, disposal and
cleanup of "hazardous wastes" and on the disposal of non-hazardous wastes. Under the auspices of the
Environmental Protection Agency, or the EPA, the individual states administer some or all of the provisions of the
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, sometimes in conjunction with their own, more stringent requirements.
Drilling fluids, produced waters, and most of the other wastes associated with the exploration, development, and
production of crude oil, natural gas, or geothermal energy constituie "solid wastes," which are regulated under the
less stringent non-hazardous waste provisions, but there is no guarantee that the EPA or the individual states will not
adopt more stringent requirements for the handling of non-hazardous wastes or categorize some non-hazardous
wastes as hazardous for future regulation,

We believe that we are currently in substantial compliance with the requirements of the Resource
Conservation and Recovery Act and related state and local laws and regulations and that we hold all necessary and
up-to-date permits to the extent that our operations require them under the Resource Conservation and Recovery
Act.

Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act. The Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, or CERCLA, also known as the "superfund” law,
imposes joint and several liability, without regard to fault or legality of conduct, on classes of persons who are
considered to be responsible for the release of a "hazardous substance" into the environment. These persons include
the owner or operator of the disposal site or site where the release occurred and companies that disposed or arranged
for the disposal of the hazardous substance. CERCLA alsc authorizes the EPA ang affected parties to respond to
threats to the public health or the environment and to seek recovery from responsible classes of persons for the costs
of the response actions.

In the course of our operations, we generate wastes that may fall within CERCLA's definition of
"hazardous substances." Therefore, we may be responsible under CERCLA for all or part of the costs to clear up
sites at which such "hazardous substances" have been deposited. At this time, however, we have not been named by
the EPA or alleged by any third party as being responsible for costs and liability associated with alleged releases of
any "hazardous substance" at any "superfund" site.
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Qil Pollution Act. The Oil Pollution Act imposes on responsible parties strict, joint and several, and
potentially unlimited liability for removal costs and other damages caused by an oil spill covered by the Oil
Pollution Act. The Oil Pollution Act also requires the lessee of an offshore area or a permittee whose operations take
place within a covered offshore facility to establish and maintain financial responsibility of at least $35 million,
which may be increased to $150 million for facilities with large worst-case spill potentials and under other
circumstances, to cover liabilities related to an oil spill for which the lessee or permitttee of the offshore area is
statutorily responsible. Owners of multiple facilities are required to maintain financial responsibility for only the
facility with the largest potential worst-case spill. We are in compliance with the financial responsibility provisions
of the Qil Pollution Act.

Federal Water Pollution Control Act. The Federal Water Pollution Control Act and related state laws
provide varying civil and criminal penalties and liabilities for the unauthorized discharge of petroleum products and
other pollutants to surface waters. The federal discharge permitting program also prohibits the discharge of produced
water, sand and other substances related to the oil and gas industry to coastal waters. We believe that we are in
substantial compliance with all pollutant, wastewaier, and stormwater discharge regulations and that we hold all
necessary and valid permits for the discharge of such materials from our operations.

Federal Clean Air Act. The Federal Clean Air Act restricts the emission of air pollutants and affects both
onshore and offshore oil and gas operations. New facilities may be required to obtain permits before work can begin,
and existing facilities may be required to incur capital costs in order to remain in compliance. In addition, more
stringent regulations governing emissions of toxic air pollutants are being developed by the EPA, and may increase
the costs of compliance for some facilities. We believe that we are in substantial compliance with all air emissions
regulations and that we hold all necessary and valid construction and operating permits for our operations.

Natural Gas Sales Transportation. Historically, federal legislation and regulatory controls affect the price
of the natural gas we produce and the manner in which we market our production. The Federal Energy Regulatory
Commission, or FERC, has jurisdiction over the transportation and sale for resale of natural gas in interstate
commerce by natural gas companies under the Natural Gas Act of 1938 and the Natural Gas Policy Act of 1978.
Since 1978, various federal laws have been enacted which have resulted in the complete removal on January 1, 1993
of all price and non-price controls for sales of domestic natural gas sold in "first sales," which include all of our
sales of our own production. ‘

FERC also regulates interstate natural gas transportation rates and service conditions, which affect the
marketing of natural gas that we produce, as well as the revenues we receive for sales of our natural gas.
Commencing in 1985, FERC promulgated a series of orders and regulations that significantly fostered competition
in the business of transporting and marketing gas. These orders and regulations induced, and ultimately required,
interstate pipeline companies to provide nondiscriminatory transportation services to producers, marketers and other
shippers, regardless of whether shippers were affiliated with an interstate pipeline company. FERC's initiatives have
led to the development of a competitive, unreguiated, open access market for gas purchases and sales that permits all
purchasers of gas to buy gas directly from third-party sellers other than pipelines. However, the natural gas industry
historically has been very heavily regulated; therefore, we cannot guarantee that the less stringent regulatory
approach recently pursued by FERC and Congress will continue indefinitely into the future.

Under FERC's current regulatory regime, transmission services must be provided on an open-access, non-
discriminatory basis at cost-based rates. Gathering service, which occurs upstream of jurisdictional transmission
services, is regulated by the states onshore and in state waters. In offshore Federal waters, gathering is regulated by
FERC under the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act. The Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act requires open access
and non-discriminatory rates, but does not provide for cost-based rates. Although its policy is still in flux, FERC has
recently reclassified jurisdictional transmission Facilities as nonjurisdictional gathering Facilities, which has the
tendency to increase our costs of getting gas to point-of-sale locations.
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Risk Factors Affecting Qur Business
The Volutility of Natural Gas and O Prices May Affect Our Financial Resuls.

As an independent natural gas and oil producer, the revenues we generate from our operations are highly
dependent on the price of, and demand for, natural gas and oil. Even relatively modest changes in oil and natural gas
prices may significantly change our revenues, results of operations, cash flows and proved reserves. Historically, the
markets for natural gas and oil have been volatile and are likely to continue to be volatile in the future. Prices for
natural gas and oil may fluctuate widely in response to relatively minor changes in the supply of and demand for
natural gas and oil, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors that are beyond our control, such as:

o the domestic and foreign supply of natural gas and oil;

= the price of foreign imports;

= overall domestic and global economic conditions;

= political and economic conditions in oil producing countries;
o the level of consumer product demand;

s weather conditions;

o domestic and foreign governmental regulations; and

= the price and availability of alternative fuels.

We cannot predict future natural gas and oil price movements. If natural gas and oil prices decline, the
amount of natural gas and oil we can economically produce may be reduced, which may result in a material decline
in our revenues.

We May Be Required to Take Additional Writedowns if Natural Gas and Oil Prices Decline.

We may be required under full cost accounting rules to write down the carrying value of our natural gas
and oil properties when natural gas and oil prices are low or if we have substantial downward adjustments to our
estimated proved reserves, increases in our estimates of development costs or deterioration in our exploration
results.

For the quarter ended December 31, 2001, we were required under SEC accounting rules to take a non-cash
charge to impair or reduce the carrying value of our oil and gas properties by $6.2 million ($4.0 million net of tax).
The charge was primarily a result of low natural gas prices. We may be required to take additional write downs in
future periods should prices not significantly improve from current levels or if we have unsuccessful drilling results.

We May Not Be Able to Meet Qur Substantial Capital Requirements.

Our business is capital intensive. To maintain or increase our base of proved oil and gas reserves, we must
invest a significant amount of cash flow from operations in property acquisitions, development and exploration
activities. We are currently making and will continue to make substantial capital expenditures to find, develop,
acquire and produce natural gas and oil reserves. Our capital expenditure budget for exploration, development and
leasehold acquisitions for 2002 is estimated at approximately $250 million. This budget excludes potential property
acquisitions. We believe that we will have sufficient cash provided by operating activities and available borrowing
capacity under our bank credit facility to fund planned capital expenditures in 2002. If our revenues or borrowing
base under the bank credit facility decrease as a result of lower natural gas and oil prices, operating difficulties or
declines in reserves, we may not be able to expend the capital necessary to undertake or complete future drilling
programs or acquisition opportunities uniess we raise additional funds through debt or equity financings. Without
continued employment of capital, our oil and gas reserves will decline. We may not be able to obtain debt or equity
financing, and cash generated by operations or available under our revolving bank credit facility may not be
sufficient to meet our capital requirements.
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The Amount of Our Quistanding Indebtedness is Substantial and Could Have Adverse Consequences.

Our outstanding indebtedness at December 31, 2001 was $244 million, and as of March 14, 2002 was $251
million.

Our level of indebtedness affects our operations in a number of ways. Our bank credit facility and the
indenture governing our senior subordinated notes contain covenants that require a substantial portion of our cash
flow from operations to be dedicated to the payment of interest on our indebtedness. Accordingly, these funds will
not be available for other purposes. Other covenants in these agreements require us to meet the financial tests
specified in these agreements and establish other restrictions that limit our ability to borrow additional funds or
dispose of assets. They may also affect our flexibility in planning for, and reacting to, changes in business
conditions. Moreover, future acquisition and development activities may require us to significantly alter our
capitalization structure, which may alter our indebtedness. Our ability to meet our debt service obligations and
reduce our total indebtedness will depend upon our future performance. Our future performance, in turn, is
dependent upon many factors that are beyond our control such as general economic, financial and business
conditions. Our future performance may be adversely affected by these economic, financial and business conditions.

Estimates of Proved Reserves and Future Net Revenue May Change.

The estimates of proved reserves of natural gas and oil included in this document are based on various
assumptions. The accuracy of any reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data, engineering,
geological interpretation and judgment and the assumptions used regarding quantities of recoverable natural gas and
oil reserves and prices for crude oil, natural gas liquids and natural gas. Actual prices, production, development
expenditures, operating expenses and quantities of recoverable oil and natural gas reserves will vary from those
assumed in our estimates, and these variances may be significant. Any significant variance from the assumptions
used could result in the actual quantity of our reserves and future net cash flow being materially different from the
estimates in our reserve reports. In addition, results of drilling, testing and production and changes in crude oil,
natural gas liquids and natural gas prices after the date of the estimate may result in substantial upward or downward
revisions,

We May Not Be Able to Replace Reserves.

Our future success depends on our ability to find, develop and acquire natural gas and oil reserves. Without
successful exploration, development or acquisition activities, our reserves and revenues will decline over time. The
continuing development of reserves and acquisition activities require significant expenditures. Our cash flow from
operations may not be sufficient for this purpose, and we may not be able to obtain the necessary funds from other
sources. If we are not able to replace reserves at sufficient levels, the amount of credit available to us may decrease
since the maximum amount of borrowing capacity available under our bank credit facility is based, at least in part,
on the estimated quantities of our proved reserves.

Hazard Losses May Not Be Insured.
The natural gas and oil business involves many types of operating and environmental hazards and risks. We
are insured against some, but not all, of the hazards associated with our business. We believe this is standard

practice in our industry. Because of this practice, however, we may be liable or sustain losses that could be
substantial due to events that are not insured.
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Qur Acguisition and Investment Activities May Not Be Successful.

The successful acquisition of producing properties requires assessment of reserves, future commodity
prices, operating costs, potential environmental and other liabilities. These assessments may not be accurate. We
review the properties we intend to acquire in a fashion that we believe is generaily consistent with industry practice.
This review typically includes on-site inspections and the review of environmental compliance reports filed with the
Minerals Management Service. This review, however, will not reveal all existing or potential problems nor will it
permit us to become sufficiently familiar with the properties to fully assess their deficiencies and capabilities. We
may not always perform inspections on every platform or well, and structural or environmental problems may not be
observable even when an inspection is undertaken. Accordingly, we may suffer the loss of one or more acquired
properties due to titie deficiencies or may be required to make significant expenditures to cure environmental
contamination with respect to acquired properties. Even when problems are identified, the seller may be unwilling or
unable to provide effective contractual protection against all or part of the problems. We are generally not entitled to
contractual indemnification for environmental liabilities and we typically acquire structures on a property on an "as
is" basis.

Qur Hedging Activities May Limit the Benefit of Incressed Prices.

Almost all our revenues are generated from the sale of the natural gas we produce. Periodically, we enter
into hedging arrangements relating to a portion of our natural gas production to achieve a more predicable cash flow,
as well as to reduce our exposure to adverse price fluctuations of natural gas. The hedging instruments we use are
fixed price swaps, collars and options. While using these types of hedging instruments limits the downside risk of
adverse price movements, a number of risks exist, inciuding instances in which the benefit to revenues is limited
when natural gas prices increase. For example, as a result of hedges, during the first quarter 2001 our average
realized natural gas price was $5.48 per Mcf which was 80% of the average unhedged natural gas price of $6.86 per
Mef that otherwise would have been received, resulting in natural gas and oil revenues that were $30.5 million lower
that the revenues we would have achieved if we had not hedged approximately 70% of our production. In addition,
counter parties to our futures contract may not be able to meet the financial terms of the hedging transactions with
us.

We May Incur Substantial Costs to Comply With Environmental and Other Governmenial Regulations.

Environmental and other governmental regulations have increased the costs to plan, design, drill, install,
operate and abandon oil and natural gas wells, offshore platforms and other facilities. We have expended and
continue to expend significant resources, both financial and managerial, to comply with environmental regulations
and permitting requirements. Increasingly strict environmental laws, regulations and enforcement policies and
claims for damages to property, employees, other persons and the environment resulting from our operations, could
result in substantial costs and liabilities in the future.

We Face Strong Competition.

As an independent natural gas and oil producer, we face strong competition in all aspects of our business.
Many of our competitors are large, well-established companies that have substantially larger operating staffs and
greater capital resources than we do. These companies may be able to pay more for productive natural gas and oil
properties and exploratory prospects and to define, evaluate, bid for and purchase a greater number of properties and
prospects than our financial and human resources permit.
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Porential Conflicts of Interest With Qur Majovity Stockholder.

A variety of conflicts of interest between KeySpan and our public stockholders may arise as a result of
KeySpan's ownership of approximately 67% of our common stock. KeySpan does not consider our company a core
asset and may decide to sell all or part of its ownership interest in us in a transaction that does not provide our public
stockholders the opportunity to sell their shares to the purchaser for a pnce reflecting a change-of-control premium.
Further, KeySpan is in a position to control:

o the election of the entire Board of Directors;

= the outcome of the vote on all matters requiring the vote of our stockholders;

= all matters relating to our management;

= the acquisition or disposition of our assets, including the sale of our business as a whole;
o payment of dividends on our common stock;

s the future issuance of our common stock or other securities; and

o hedging, drilling, operating and acquisition expenditure plans.

The Chairman of our Board of Directors, Robert B. Catell, is also the Chairman of the Board of Directors
and Chief Executive Officer of KeySpan. In addition to Mr. Catell, four of our nine other directors are currently or
were previously affiliated with KeySpan: Craig G. Matthews is former Vice Chairman, President and Chief
Operating Officer of KeySpan, retired March 1, 2002; Gerald Luterman is Executive Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of KeySpan; H. Neil Nichols is Senior Vice President of Corporate Development and Asset
Management of KeySpan; and James Q. Riordan is currently a director of KeySpan who intends to retire from
KeySpan's Board in May 2002.

Employees

As of December 31, 2001, we had 128 full time employees, 78 of whom are located at our headquarters in
Houston, Texas and the remainder of whom are located at field offices. None of our employees are represented by a
labor union. During 2001 and 2000, we contracted with Cperators & Consulting Services to conduct all of the day to
day operations of our offshore properties. In December 2001, we contracted with Grasso Production Management,
Inc. to conduct these same offshore operations. Please read the section entitled "Third Party Contractors."

Offices
We currently lease approximately 69,000 square feet of office space in Houston, Texas, where our principal

offices are located. In addition, we maintain field operations offices in the areas where we operate onshore
properties.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are not a party to any material pending legal proceedings, other than ordinary routine litigation
incidental to our business that management believes will not have a material adverse effect on our financial
condition or resulis of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

No matters were submitted to a vote of our security holders during the last quarter of the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2001.

Part IL
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "THX." The following

table sets forth the range of high and low sales prices for each calendar quarterly period from January 1, 2000
through December 31, 2001 as reported on the New York Stock Exchange:

Year Ended December 31, 2001 High Low

First Quarter $39.21 $27.45
Second Quarter $38.00 $24.90
Third Quarter $34.26 $22.20
Fourth Quarter $35.00 $23.10
Year Ended December 31, 2000 High Low

First Quarter $20.94 $14.50
Second Quarter $25.75 $17.38
Third Quarter $28.31 $21.19
Fourth Quarter $39.75 $21.88

As of March 13, 2002, 30,490,680 shares of common stock were outstanding and we had approximately 44
stockholders of record and approximately 3,300 beneficial owners.

‘ Dividends

We have not paid any cash dividends during the two most recent fiscal years and do not anticipate
declaring any dividends in the foreseeable future. We expect that we will retain our cash for the operation and
expansion of our business, including exploration, development and acquisition activities. Our bank credit facility
and the indenture governing our 8%/3% senior subordinated notes contain restrictions on the payment of dividends to
holders of common stock. Accordingly, our ability to pay dividends will depend upon these restrictions and our
results of operations, financial condition, capital requirements and other factors deemed relevant by the Board of
Directors. Please read "Item 7. — Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations."
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table shows selected financial data derived from our consolidated financial statements for
each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2001. You should read these financial data in conjunction
with Item 7. "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our
Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes.

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues:
Natural gas and oil revenues ............ccoeecoeennnen. $ 379,504 § 270,595 $ 150,580 $ 127,124 §$ 116,349
OLhET (oot et st 1.353 1,738 1,147 1,123 1,297
Total reVenues......ccovovvveeeeenniceieree e 380,857 272,333 151,727 128,247 117,646

Expenses:
Lease operating ........ U 25,291 23,553 18,406 16,199 14,146
SEVETANCE AKX ...vovvivererireeeriteee et eteeteceeieseenes 11,035 9,757 5,444 4,967 4,233
Depreciation, depletion and amortization ......... 128,736 89,239 74,051 79,838 59,081
Writedown in carrying value...........ccooeveeneene. 6,170 — — 130,000 —
General and administrative, net........c.cccceevenne... 17,110 8.928 4.150 6.086 5,825
Total operating eXpenses..........c.cocevevrreenens 188,342 131,477 102,051 237,090 83,285
Income (loss) from operations ...........ccecervveneenen. 192,515 140,856 49,676  (108,843) 34,361
Strategic review expensest ...........cc.coocvvvrriennn. 119 1,752 — — R
Interest eXpense, Net.........ccvvereercrnnrerineninicnenns 2,992 11,361 13,307 4,597 938
Income (loss) before income taxes..............o...... 189,404 127,743 36,369 (113,440) 33,423
Income tax provision (benefit)............ccocuvvennn. 66.803 42 485 11,748 (40.754) 10,173
Net income (10S8).......cocvovveeeereneiriceereieec e, $ 122601 $ 85258 § 24621 § (72,686) S 23250
Net income (loss) per share...........cceeveveueurvennnnn. § 406 $ 306 § 1.03 § _(3.05) % 1.00
Net income (loss) per share—diluted................. § 400 $ 302 § 095 $ 305 % 0.97
Weighted average shares.............cc.ococvnecnnenene 30,228 27,860 23,906 23,768 23,337
Weighted average shares—diluted...................... 30,645 28,213 28,310 23,768 24,028
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges® ................... 12.8x 5.5x 2.0x N/M 5.0x

At Year End December 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(in thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Property, plant and equipment, net...................... $ 938,761 $ 705,390 $ 610,116 $ 536,582 § 443,738
TOtAl @SSES ..oeivecvicriier et 1,059,092 837,384 678,483 569,452 491,391
Long-term debt and notes ...........ccvovvrrerverrennns, 244,000 245,000 281,000 313,000 113,000
Stockholders’ equity.......ocercvvericirnine e, 565,881 396,742 217,590 192,530 256,187

M Represents nonrecurring expenses incurred in connection with the decision to review strategic alternatives for Houston

Exploration and KeySpan's investment in our Company, including the possible sale of all or a portion of Houston
Exploration. Please read Note 6 — Related Party Transactions.
@ For purposes of determining the ratio of earnings to fixed charges, earnings are defined as income (loss) before tax plus
fixed charges, adjusted to exclude capitalized interest. Fixed charges consist of interest expense, whether expensed or
capitalized, and an imputed or estimated interest component of rent expense. (See Exhibit 12.1)
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
General

We are an independent natural gas and oil company engaged in the exploration, development, exploitation
and acquisition of domestic natural gas and oil properties. Qur operations are currently focused offshore in the Gulf
of Mexico and onshore in South Texas, the Arkoma Basin of Oklahoma and Arkansas, South Louisiana, the
Appalachian Basin in West Virginia and East Texas. Our strategy is to utilize our technical expertise to continue to
increase reserves, production and cash flows through the application of a three-pronged approach that combines an
effective mix of:

= high potential offshore exploration and exploitation;
= lower risk, high impact exploitation and development drilling onshore; and
= selective opportunistic acquisitions both offshore and onshore

At December 31, 2001, our net proved reserves were 608 Befe, with a discounted present value of cash
flows before income taxes of $714 million. Our focus is natural gas. Approximately 93% of our net proved reserves
at December 31, 2001 were natural gas of which approximately 74% of our net proved reserves were classified as
proved developed. We operate approximately 85% of our properties.

We began exploring for natural gas and oil in December 1985 on behalf of The Brooklyn Union Gas
Company. Brooklyn Union is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of KeySpan Corporation. KeySpan, a member of
the Standard & Poor's 500 Index, is a diversified energy provider whose principal natural gas distribution and
electric generation operations are located in the Northeastern United States. In September 1996 we completed our
initial public offering. As of December 31, 2001, THEC Holdings Corp., an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
KeySpan, owned approximately 67% of the outstanding shares of our common stock.

As an independent oil and gas producer, our revenue, profitability and future rate of growth are
substantially dependent upon prevailing prices for natural gas and oil, our ability to find and produce hydrocarbons
and our ability to control and reduce costs, all of which are dependent upon numerous factors beyond our control,
such as economic, political and regulatory developments and competition from other sources of energy. The energy
markets have historically been very volatile, as evidenced by the recent volatility of natural gas and oil prices, and
there can be no assurance that commodity prices will not widely fluctuate in the future. A substantial or extended
decline in natural gas and oil prices or poor drilling results could have a material adverse effect on our financial
position, results of operations, cash flows, quantities of natural gas and oil reserves that may be economically
produced and access to capital.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Full Cost Accounting. We use the full cost method to account for our natural gas and oil properties. Under
full cost accounting, all costs incurred in the acquisition, exploration and development of natural gas and oil reserves
are capitalized into a "full cost pool". Capitalized costs include costs of all unproved properties, internal costs
directly related to our natural gas and oil activities and capitalized interest. We amortize these costs using a unit-of-
production method. We compute the provision for depreciation, depletion and amortization guarterly by multiplying
production for the quarter by a depletion rate. The depletion rate is determined by dividing our total unamortized
cost base by net equivalent proved reserves at the beginning of the quarter. Unevaluated properties and related costs
are excluded from our amortization base until we have made a determination as to the existence of proved reserves.
Our amortization base includes estimates for future development costs as well as future abandonment and
dismantlement cosfs.

Under full cost accounting rules, total capitalized costs are limited to a ceiling of the present value of future

net revenues, discounted at 10%, plus the lower of cost or fair value of unproved properties less income tax effects
(the "ceiling limitation"). We perform a quarterly ceiling test to evaluate whether the net book value of our full cost
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pool exceeds the ceiling limitation. If capitalized costs (net of accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization)
less deferred taxes are greater than the discounted future net revenues or ceiling limitation, a writedown or
impairment of the full cost pool is required. A writedown of the carrying value of the full cost pool is a non-cash
charge that reduces eamings and impacts stockholders' equity in the period of occurrence and typically results in
lower depreciation, depletion and amortization expense in future periods. Cnce incurred, a writedown is not
reversible at a later date.

The ceiling test is calculated using natural gas and oil prices in effect as of the balance sheet date, held
constant over the life of the reserves. We use derivative financial instruments that qualify for hedge accounting
under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 133 to hedge against the volatility of natural gas
prices, and in accordance with current Securities and Exchange Commission guidelines, we include estimated future
cash flows from our hedging program in our ceiling test calculation. In calculating the ceiling test at December 31,
2001, we estimated, using a wellhead price of $2.38 per Mcf, that our capitalized costs exceeded the ceiling
limitation by $6.2 million ($4.0 million after tax). As a result, we reduced or "wrote down" the carrying value of our
full cost pool and incurred a charge to earnings of $6.2 million ($4.0 million, after tax). Natural gas prices continue
to be volatile and the risk that we will be required to write down our full cost pool increases when natural gas prices
are depressed or if we have significant downward revisions in our estimated proved reserves.

In calculating our ceiling test at December 31, 2000 and 1999, we estimated, using a wellhead price of
$9.55 per Mcf and $2.01 per Mcf, respectively, that we had a fuil cost ceiling “cushion" at each of the respective
balance sheet dates, whereby the carrying value of our full cost pool was less that the ceiling limitation by $1.4
billion (after tax) for 2000 and $99.2 million (after tax) for 1999. No writedown is required when a cushion exists.

Estimates of proved reserves are key components of our depletion rate for natural gas and oil properties and
our full cost ceiling test limitation. See Note 12 — Supplemental Information on Natural Gas and Oil Exploration,
Development and Production Activities. Because there are numerous uncertainties inherent in the estimation
process, actual results could differ from the estimates.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Our most significant
financial estimates are based on remaining proved natural gas and oil reserves.

Natural gas and oil reserve quantities represent estimates only. Under full cost accounting, we use reserve
estimates to determine our full cost ceiling limitation as well as our depletion rate. We estimate our proved reserves
and future net revenues using sales prices estimated to be in effect as of the date we make the reserve estimates. We
hold the estimates constant throughout the life of the properties, except to the extent a contract specifically provides
for escalation. Gas prices, which have fluctuated widely in recent years, affect estimated quantities of proved
reserves and future net revenues. Any estimates of natural gas and oil reserves and their values are inherently
uncertain, including many factors beyond our control. Reservoir engineering is a subjective process of estimating
underground accumulations of natural gas and oil that cannot be measured in an exact manner. The accuracy of any
reserve estimate is a function of the quality of available data and of engineering and geological interpretation and
judgment. In addition, estimates of reserves may be revised based upon actual production, results of future
development and exploration activities, prevailing natural gas and oil prices, operating costs and other factors, which
revision may be material. Reserve estimates are highly dependent upon the accuracy of the underlying assumptions.
Actual future production may be materially different from estimated reserve quantities and the differences could
materially affect future amortization of natural gas and oil properties.
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New Accounting Pronouncements.

SFAS No. 133. We adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" on January 1,
2001. The statement, as amended, requires companies to report the fair market value of derivatives on the balance
sheet and record in income or in accumulated other comprehensive income, as appropriate, any changes in the fair
market value of the derivative. We utilize cash flow hedges to reduce the risk of price volatility for our future natural
gas production. Our hedges qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS 133 because they are highly effective as they
are tied to the same indexes at which our natural gas production is sold. As a result, when we mark-to-market our
derivative instruments at the end of each quarter, we are able to defer the gain or loss on the change in fair value in
accumulated other comprehensive income, a component of stockholders' equity. At December 31, 2001, we
estimated, using the New York Mercantile Exchange, or NYMEX, index price strip as of that date, that the fair
market value of our hedges was $53.8 million. As a result, our balance sheet at December 31, 2001 reflects an asset
of $53.8 million with a corresponding credit of $34.9 million (net of related deferred taxes of $18.9 million) in
accumulated other comprehensive income, representing the fair market value of our deferred hedge gain. See Note 8
— Hedging Contracts.

The FASB has recently issued SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations," SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and
Cther Intangible Assets," SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" and SFAS No. 144,
"Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets."

SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations, " requires the use of the purchase method of accounting for all
business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets",
addresses accounting for the acquisition of intangible assets and accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets
after they have been initially recognized in the financial statements. We do not currently have goodwill or other
similar intangible assets; therefore, the adoption of the new standard on January 1, 2002, has not had a material
effect on our financial statements.

SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,"” addresses accounting and reporting for
obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs.
SFAS No. 143 will be effective for-us January 1, 2003 and early adoption is encouraged. SFAS No. 143 requires
that the fair value of a liability for an asset's retirement obligation be recorded in the period in which it is incurred
and the corresponding cost capitzlized by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. The liability
is accreted to its then present value each period, and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the
related asset. If the liability is settled for an amount other than the recorded amount, a gain or loss is recognized.
Currently, we include estimated future costs of abandonment and dismantlement in our full cost amortization base
and amortize these costs as a component of our depletion expense. We are evaluating the impact the new standard
will have on our financial statements.

SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets," is effective for us
January 1, 2002, and addresses accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. SFAS
No. 144 supersedes SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived
Assets to Be Disposed Of" and APB Opinion No. 30, "Reporting the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of
Disposal of a Segment of a Business.” SFAS No. 144 retains the fundamental provisions of SFAS No. 121 and
expands the reporting of discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations that can be
distinguished from the rest of the entity and that will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity in a
disposal transaction. We believe that the new standard will not have a material impact on our financial statements.
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Recent Developments

Conoco Acguisition. On December 31, 2001, we completed the purchase from Conoco Inc. of natural gas
and oil properties and associated gathering pipelines and equipment, together with developed and undeveloped
acreage, located in Webb and Zapata counties of South Texas, The $69 million purchase price was paid in cash and
financed by borrowings under our revolving bank credit facility, The properties purchased cover approximately
25,274 gross (16,885 net) acres located in the Alexander, Haynes, Hubbard and South Trevino Fields, which are in
close proximity to our existing operations in the Charco Field, and represent interests in approximately 159
producing wells. We operate approximately 95% of the producing wells we acquired. Our average working interest
is 87%. With this acquisition, we have expanded and expect to improve our operations in South Texas which have
been an area of strategic growth for us over the past five years. Current production (for the month of February 2002)
1s averaging 19.0 MMcfe/day, net to our interest,

Appointment of New Executive Officer. Effective March 1, 2002, Roger B. Rice was appointed to the newly
created position of Senior Vice President Human Resources and Administration. Mr. Rice has worked at Houston
Exploration as a paid consultant since June 2001. Prior to joining Houston Exploration, Mr. Rice was Vice President
and General Manager for Santa Fe Snyder Corporation from 1999 to 2001 where he was responsible for all onshore
exploration and production activities in Texas and New Mexico. Mr. Rice had been Vice President — Human
Resources with Snyder Oil Corporation from 1997 until its merger with Santa Fe Resources in 1999. From 1992 to
1997, Mr. Rice was Vice President Human Resources and Administration with Apache Corporation. From 1989 to
1992, he was Managing Consultant with Barton Raben, Inc., an executive search and consulting firm specializing in
the energy industry. Previously, Mr. Rice was Vice President Administration for The Superior Oil Company and
held various management positions with Shell Oil Company. He earned his Bachelor of Arts degree and Masters
degree in Business Administration from Texas Technological University.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our historical natural gas and oil production data during the periods
indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

Production:

Natural gas (MMCE) ....ccovevvecniinriceerecieeene 87,095 77,861 69,679

Oil (MBDIS)....evereireerierieerineseseereseenenne 459 311 258

Total (MMcfe) ..ooveveeierecerienreeecec e 89,849 - 79,727 71,227
Average Sales Prices:

Natural gas (per Mcf) realized™V .................. $ 424 § 337 §$ 210

Natural Gas (per Mcf) unhedged .................. 4.09 3.96 2.14

Oil (PEF BbL) oot 22.83 27.22 16.41
Expenses (per Mcfe):

Lease OPerating......coevverersresreserersseessenneeenns $ 028 § €30 $ 0.26

SEVETance taxX ....ccccvereeevevecnenarenriserseseessecsesene 0.12 0.12 0.08

Depreciation, depletion and amortization ..... 1.43 1.12 1.04

Writedown in carrying value of natural gas and

01l PTOPETTIES.c.cerevereemririeeereraesereeneeeninens 0.07 —_ —
General and administrative, net........cccocevueers 0.19 0.11 0.06

M Reflects the effects of hedging.
Recent Financial and Operating Results
Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2001 and 2000

Production. Our production increased 13% from 79,727 MMcfe for the year ended December 31, 2000 to
89,849 MMcfe for the year ended December 31, 2001. The increase in production was primarily attributable to
newly developed offshore production brought on-line since the end of the second guarter of 2000.

Offshore, our production increased 30% from an average of 99 MMcfe/day during 2000 to an average of
129 MMcfe/day during 2001. This increase is primarily attributable to a full year of production at West Cameron
587, North Padre Island 883, Matagorda 704 and High Island 133/115 combined with newly developed production
at Galveston Island 144, 190, 241 and 389, High Island 39 and East Cameron 83.

Onshore, our daily production rates decreased slightly by 2% from an average of 119 MMcfe/day during
2000 to an average of 117 MMcfe/day during 2001. The onshore production decrease is primarily attributable to a
decline in production from our South Louisiana properties from an average of 11 MMcfe/day during 2000 to an
average of 8 MMcfe/day during 2001. Average daily production from our Charco Field together with production
from our Arkoma, East Texas and West Virginia properties remained unchanged at an average of 83 MMcfe/day
and 26 MMcfe/day, respectively.

Natural Gas and Oil Revenues. Natural gas and oil revenues increased 40% from $270.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 2000 to $379.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 as a result of a 26%
increase in average realized natural gas prices, from $3.37 per Mcf in 2000 to $4.24 per Mcf in 2001, combined with
a 13% increase in producticn for the same period.
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Natural Gas Prices. As a result of hedging activities, we realized an average gas price of $4.24 per Mcf for
the year ended December 31, 2001, which was 104% of the average unhedged natural gas price of $4.09 that
otherwise would have been received, resulting in natural gas and oil revenues for the year ended December 31, 2001
that were $12.9 million higher than the revenues we would have achieved if hedges had not been in place during the
period. For the corresponding period during 2000, we realized an average gas price of $3.37 per Mcf, which was
85% of the average unhedged natural gas price of $3.96 that otherwise would have been received, resulting in
natural gas and oil revenues that were $46.3 million lower than the revenues we would have achieved if hedges had
not been in place during the period.

Lease Operating Expenses and Severance Tax. Lease operating expenses increased 7% from $23.6 million
for the year ended December 31, 2000 to $25.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. On an Mcfe basis,
lease operating expenses decreased from $0.30 per Mcfe during 2000 to $0.28 per Mcfe during 2001. The increase
in lease operating expenses for 2001 is attributable to the continued expansion of our operations, primarily from the
addition of four new offshore producing blocks during 2001 combined with a full year of operations from another
four blocks brought on-line during the second half of 2000. We saw service costs increase during the first half 2001
and stabilize during the later half of the year which corresponded directly with the weakening of commodity prices
and a slowdown in drilling activity across the industry. The decrease in lease operating expenses per Mcfe reflects
the 13% increase in production volume during 2001. Severance tax, which is a function of volume and revenues
generated from onshore production, increased from $9.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 to $11.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2001. On an Mcfe basis, severance tax remained unchanged at $0.12 per
Mcfe for each of the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001. The increase in severance tax expense reflects
higher natural gas prices received during 2001 combined with newly developed offshore production located in state
waters brought on-line during the year.

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization. Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense increased
44% from $89.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 to $128.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2001. Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense per Mcfe increased 28% from $1.12 during 2000 to $1.43
during 2001. The increase in depreciation, depletion and amortization expense was a result of higher production
volumes combined with a higher depletion rate. The higher depletion rate is primarily a result of a higher level of
capital spending during 2001 as compared to 2000 combined with the addition of fewer new reserves in 2001 from
exploration and developmental drilling.

Writedown in Carrying Value of Natural Gas and Oil Properties. At December 31, 2001, we were required
under full cost accounting rules to write down the carrying value of our full cost pool primarily as a result of weak
natural gas prices. In calculating the ceiling test, we estimated, using a December 31, 2001 wellhead price of $2.38
per Mcf, that our capitalized costs exceeded the ceiling limitation by $6.2 million and accordingly we recorded a
writedown of our full cost pool and a charge to eamnings during the fourth quarter of $4.0 million, net of tax.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses, net of overhead
reimbursements received from other working interest owners, of $3.6 million and $1.2 million for the years ended
December 31, 2000 and 2001, respectively, increased 92% from $8.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000
to $17.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Included in reimbursements received from working interest
owners were reimbursements totaling $2.5 million during 2000 received from KeySpan pursuant to our joint drilling
venture with KeySpan (see Note 6 — Related Party Transactions). Overhead reimbursements were terminated
December 31, 2000 with the expiration of the initial exploratory term of our joint drilling venture with KeySpan,
and as a result we no longer receive reimbursement of general and administrative expenses from KeySpan. We
capitalized general and administrative expenses directly related to oil and gas exploration and development activities
of $9.6 million and $12.8 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2000 and 2001. The increase in
capitalized general and administrative expenses is a result of higher aggregate general and administrative expenses
during 2001. Aggregate general and administrative expenses were higher during 2001 as a result of: (i) one-time
payments totaling $5.2 million in connection with the termination of former executive officers' employment
contracts; (ii) expansion of our workforce; and (iii) an increase in incentive compensation and benefit related
expenses.
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On an Mcfe basis, general and administrative expenses increased 73% from $0.11 during 2000 to $0.19
during 2001. Excluding the one-time charges taken for the termination of employment contracts totaling $5.2
million, general and administrative expenses on a per Mcfe basis would have increased 18% from $0.11 for 2000 to
$0.13 for 2001. The higher rate per Mcfe during 2001 reflects the increase in aggregate general and administrative
expenses caused by the effects of the termination of reimbursements received pursuant to our joint drilling venture
with KeySpan which totaled $2.5 million during 2000 combined with the expansion of the Company's workforce
and higher incentive compensation and benefit related expenses.

Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net of capitalized interest, decreased 74% from $11.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2000 to $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2001. Aggregate interest
expense decreased 40% from $25.1 during 2000 to $15.0 million during 2001. The decrease in aggregate interest is
due to a decrease in interest rates combined with (i) the paydown of $85 million in borrowings under the revolving
bank credit facility during the first nine months of 2001; and (ii) the March 31, 2000 conversion of $80 million in
outstanding borrowings under a revolving credit facility with KeySpan into shares of our common stock (see Note 6
— Related Party Transactions — KeySpan Credit Facility and Conversion). Capitalized interest decreased 12%
from $13.7 million during 2000 to $12.0 million during 2001 and reflects the decrease in aggregate interest expense
offset in part by a higher level of exploratory drilling during 2001 (our capitalized interest is a function of
exploratory drilling and unevaluated properties). Interest rates on our total outstanding borrowings averaged 7.43%
during 2001 compared to 8.07% in 2000.

Income Tax Provision. The provision for income taxes increased from $42.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2000 to $66.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2001 due to the 48% increase in pre-tax
income during 2001 from $127.7 million during 2000 to $189.4 million during 2001 as a result of the combination
of higher natural gas prices, an increase in production, a decrease in interest expense offset in part by an increase in
operating expenses.

Operating Income and Net Income. For the year ended December 31, 2001, the 26% increase in natural gas
prices combined with the 13% increase in production, offset in part by a 43% increase in operating expenses, caused
operating income to increase 37% from $140.9 million during 2600 to $192.5 million during 2001. Correspondingly,
net income increased 44% from $85.3 million for 2000 to $122.6 million for 2001 and reflects lower interest
expense and higher taxes.

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2000 and 1999

Production. Our production increased 12% from 71,227 MMcfe for the year ended December 31, 1999 to
79,727 MMcfe for the year ended December 31, 2600. The increase in production resulted from newly developed
offshore production brought on-line since the end of the second quarter of 1999.

Offshore production increased 30% from an average of 76 MMcfe per day during 1999 to an average of 99
MMcfe per day during 2000. The increase is attributable to a full year of production from new wells drilled during
1999 at Mustang Island A-31 and West Cameron 76 and new wells drilled and completed during the second half of
2000 at West Cameron 587, North Padre Isiand 883, Matagorda Island 704 and High Island 133. In addition, in May
2000, we acquired incremental working interests in existing production at Vermilion 203, Mustang Island 858 and
West Cameron 76.

Cnshore production remained unchanged at 119 MMcfe per day during 2000 as compared to 1999. During
the third quarter of 2000, we experienced delays in bringing new wells on-line at the Charco Field due to a shortage
of completion equipment and crews. By the middle of the fourth quarter of 2000, crews and equipment became more
readily available and we added a third drilling rig to expedite our drilling program.

Natural Gas and Oil Revenues. Natural gas and oil revenues increased 80% from $150.6 million for the
year ended December 31, 1999 to $270.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 as a result of a 60%
increase in average realized natural gas prices, from $2.10 per Mcf in 1929 to $3.37 per Mcf in 2000, combined with
a 12% increase in production for the same period.
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Natural Gas Prices. As a result of hedging activities, we realized an average gas price of $3.37 per Mcf for
the year ended December 31, 2000, which was 85% of the average unhedged natural gas price of $3.96 that
otherwise would have been received, resulting in natural gas and oil revenues for the year ended December 31, 2000
that were $46.3 million lower than the revenues we would have achieved if hedges had not been in place during the
period. For the corresponding period during 1999, we realized an average gas price of $2.10 per Mcf, which was
98% of the average unhedged natural gas price of $2.14 that otherwise would have been received, resulting in
natural gas and oil revenues that were $2.6 million lower than the revenues we would have achieved if hedges had
not been in place during the period.

Lease Operating Expenses and Severance Tax. Lease operating expenses increased 28% from $18.4 million
for the year ended December 31, 1999 to $23.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. On an Mcfe basis,
lease operating expenses increased from $0.26 per Mcfe during 1999 to $0.30 per Mcfe during 2000. The increase in
lease operating expenses and lease operating expenses on a per unit basis for the year ended December 31, 2000 is
attributable to the continued expansion of our operations, particularly offshore, combined with an increase in service
costs across the industry. Severance tax, which is a function of volume and revenues generated from onshore
production, increased from $5.4 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 to $9.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2600. On an Mcfe basis, severance tax increased from $0.08 per Mcfe for the year ended December
31, 1999 to $0.12 per Mcfe for the corresponding twelve month period of 2000. The increase in severance tax
expense and the rate per Mcfe reflects the higher natural gas prices received during 2000 as compared to 1999.

Depreciation, Depletion and Amortization. Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense increased
20% from $74.1 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 to $89.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2000. Depreciation, depletion and amortization expense per Mcfe increased 8% from $1.04 during 1999 to $1.12
during 2000. The increase in depreciation, depletion and amortization expense was a result of higher production
voluines combined with a higher depletion rate. The higher depletion rate is primarily a result of a higher level of
capital spending during 2000 as compared to the corresponding period of 1999 combined with the addition of fewer
new reserves in 2000.

General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses, net of overhead
reimbursements received from other working interest owners, of $5.7 million and $3.6 million for the years ended
December 31, 1999 and 2000, respectively, increased 119% from $4.2 million for the year ended December 31,
1999 to $8.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. Included in reimbursements received from working
interest owners were reimbursements totaling $2.5 million during 2000 and $4.8 million during 1999 received from
KeySpan pursuant to the joint venture with KeySpan (please read Note 6 — Related Party Transactions). We
capitalized general and administrative expenses directly related to oil and gas exploration and development activities
of $5.5 million and $9.6 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 2000. The increase in
capitalized general and administrative expenses is a result of higher aggregate general and administrative expenses
during 2000 as compared to 1999. Aggregate general and administrative expenses are higher during 2000 due to
expansion of our workforce combined with an increase in incentive compensation and benefit related expenses. On
an Mcfe basis, general and administrative expenses increased 83% from $0.06 for the year ended December 31,
1999 to $0.11 for the year ended December 31, 2000. The higher rate per Mcfe during 2000 reflects an increase in
aggregate general and administrative expenses and the effect of the reduction in the KeySpan joint venture
reimbursements offset in part by an increase in capitalized expenses. Effective December 31, 2000, pursuant to the
termination of the primary term of the joint venture, we will no longer receive general and administrative
reimbursements from KeySpan.

Strategic Review Expenses. During the first quarter of 2000, we recorded $1.8 million for expenses
incurred in the review of strategic alternatives. In September 1999, we, along with KeySpan, our majority
stockholder, announced our intention to review strategic alternatives for Houston Exploration and for KeySpan's
investment in Houston Exploration. KeySpan was assessing our role within its future strategic plan, and was
considering a full range of strategic transactions including the possible sale of all or a portion of its interest in us. In
February 2000, we jointly announced that the review of strategic alternatives had been completed. KeySpan also
announced that it planned to retain its equity position in us for the foreseeable future, however, they do not consider
their investment in our company a core asset,
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Interest Expense, Net. Interest expense, net of capitalized interest, decreased 14% from $13.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 1999 to $11.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2000. As a result of an increase
in exploratory drilling during the year ended December 31, 2000, capitalized interest increased 15% from $11.9
million during 1999 to $13.7 million during 2000. For the year ended December 31, 2000, aggregate interest
expense remained unchanged at $25 million. Despite a decrease in average borrowings during 2000 due to a net pay
down on our revolving bank line of credit totaling $36 million and the March 31, 2000 conversion of $80 million in
outstanding borrowings under the KeySpan credit facility into shares of our common stock {please read Note 3 —
Stockholders' Equity), interest expense remained unchanged due to higher interest rates during 2000 as compared to
1999, Interest rates on our total outstanding borrowings averaged 8.07% during 2000 compared to 7.23% in 1999.

Income Tax Provision. The provision for income taxes increased from $11.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 1999 to $42.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2000 due to the 251% increase in pre-tax
income during 2000 from $36.4 million during 1999 to $127.7 million during 2000 as a result of the combination of
higher natural gas prices and increased production offset in part by the increase in operating expenses.

Operating Income and Net Income. Despite the 29% increase in operating expenses, the 12% increase in
production and the 60% increase in realized natural gas prices were significant enough to cause operating income to
increase 184% from $49.7 million for the year ended December 31, 1999 to $140.9 mililion for the year ended
December 31, 2000. Correspondingly, net income increased 247% from $24.6 million for the year ended December
31, 1999 to $85.3 million for the year ended 2000.

Liquidity amd Capital Resources

We have historically funded our operations, acquisitions, capital expenditures and working capital
requirements from cash flows from operations, equity capital from KeySpan as well as public sources, public debt
and bank borrowings. On March 31, 2000, we converted $80 million in ouistanding borrowings under a revolving
credit facility established in November 1998 with KeySpan into 5,085,177 shares of our common stock at a
conversion price of $15.732 per share. The credit facility with KeySpan was terminated at conversion and resulted in
an increase in their ownership percentage. As of December 31, 2001, KeySpan owned 67% of our outstanding
common stock.

Cash Flows From Operations. As of December 31, 2001, we had working capital of $34.3 million and
$105.6 million of borrowing capacity available under our revolving bank credit facility. Net cash provided by
operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2001 was $358.0 million compared to $200.8 million during
the corresponding twelve month period of 2000. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities was due to
an increase in net income combined with a decrease in working capital, excluding the non-cash impact of the fair
value of our derivative instruments. The decrease in working capital is related to the timing of cash receipts and
payments and is primarily a result of the decrease in receivables, offset in part by a decrease in payables.
Receivables for natural gas and oil revenues are down at year end 2001 due to lower average commodity prices
during the fourth quarter of 2001 as compared to the corresponding period of 2000. Payables are lower at December
2001 due to a lower level of drilling activity and associated capital spending during the fourth quarter of 2001 as
compared to the fourth quarter of 2000. Our cash position decreased during 2001 as a result of repayment of
borrowings under our revolving bank credit facility of $1 million. Cash increased by $10.2 million during 2001 due
to proceeds received from the issuance of common stock from the exercise of stock options. Funds used in investing
activities consisted of $368.3 million for investiments in property and equipment, which includes $69 million for the
acquisition of producing properties in South Texas from Conoco Inc. in December 2001. As a result of these
activities, cash and cash equivalents decreased $1.1 million from $9.7 million at December 31, 2000 to $8.6 million
at December 31, 2001.
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Our primary sources of funds for each of the past three years are reflected in the following table:

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)
Net cash provided by operating activities........... $ 358,032 $ 200,791 $ 110,072
Net long-term (repayments) borrowings............ (1,000) (36,000) 48,000
Proceeds from sale of common stock, net.......... 10,189 13,894 439

Natural Gas and Oil Capital Expenditures. Over the past three years, we have spent $698 million, which
includes acquisition costs of: (i) $69 million in 2001 for the acquisition of additional producing properties in South
Texas from Conoco Inc. in December 2001; (ii) $13.9 million in 2000 for the purchase of incremental working
interests in various offshore producing properties; and (iii) $21 million in 1999 for an interest in West Cameron
Block 587, to add 372 Bcfe of net proved reserves, representing a three-year average finding and development cost
of $1.87 per Mcfe. During 2001, we spent a total of $366.4 million on the acquisition, development and exploration
of natural gas and oil properties and added 136 Befe of net proved reserves, representing a one year average finding
cost of $2.69 per Mcfe.

Our natural gas and oil capital expenditures for each of the past three years are reflected in the following
table:

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(im thousands)

Offshore:

Acquisitions and leasehold...........c.ccevvrviennenn.n. $ 37,133 $§ 41,164 § 42,246

Development........ccceviiiiiercreneienesenesesrsseseenns 97,341 48,836 53,941

EXPlOration.......ccovvevicurieiererie e 67,172 31,164 8.450
201,646 121,164 104,637

Onshore:

Acquisitions and leasehold.........c..ccceveveverecrrennans $ 79945 % 5370 § 5,196

DeVElOPIENnt ........covvueemnrreeeresesssene s sesessssennne 79,915 54,499 34,024

EXPIOration......cccccooviieivcineeeceienecvecrsesresacnenneeanens : 4,884 2,996 3,807
164,744 62,865 43,027

TOLAL vttt $ 366390 § 184029 § 147,664

Future Capital Requirements. Our capital expenditure budget for 2002 has been set at $250 million
including an estimated $80 million for exploration, $145 million for development and facility construction and $25
million for leasehold acquisition costs, which includes seismic, capitalized interest and general and administrative
expenses. We do not include property acquisition costs in our capital expenditure budget because the size and timing
of capital requirements for acquisitions are inherently unpredictable. The capital expenditure budget includes
exploration and development costs associated with projects in progress or planned for the upcoming year and
amounts are contingent upon drilling success. No significant abandonment or dismantlement costs are anticipated in
2002. We will continue to evaluate our capital spending plans throughout the year. Actual levels of capital
expenditures may vary significantly due to a variety of factors, including drilling results, natural gas prices, industry
conditions and outlook and future acquisitions of properties. We believe cash flows from operations and borrowings
under our credit facility will be sufficient to fund these expenditures. We intend to continue to selectively seek
acquisition opportunities for proved reserves with substantial exploration and development potential both offshore
and onshore although we may not be able to identify and make acquisitions of proved reserves on terms we consider
favorable,
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Shelf Registration. On May 20, 1999, we filed a "shelf" registration with the Securities and Exchange
Commission to offer and sell in one or more offerings up to a total offering amount of $250 million in securities
which could include shares of our common stock, shares of preferred stock or unsecured debt securities or a
combination thereof. Depending on market conditions and our capital needs, we may utilize the shelf registration in
order to raise capital. We would use the net proceeds received from the sale of any securities for the repayment of
debt and/or to fund an acquisition. We may not be able to consummate any offerings under the shelf registration
statement on acceptabie terms.

Capital Structure

Revolving Bank Credit Facility. We maintain a revolving bank credit facility with a syndicate of lenders led
by JP Morgan Chase, National Association. The credit facility provides a maximum commitment of $250 million,
which may be limited by the amount of the borrowing base. At December 31, 2001, the borrowing base was $250
million. Up to $2.0 million of the borrowing base is available for the issuance of letters of credit to support
performance guarantees. The credit facility matures on March 1, 2003 and is unsecured. At December 31, 2001,
$144 million was outstanding under the credit facility and $0.4 miilion was outstanding in letter of credit
obligations. Subsequent to December 31, 2001, we have borrowed an additional $7 million, bringing total
borrowings and letters of credit to $151.4 million as of March 14, 2002.

Interest is payable on borrowings under the credit facility, at our option, at:

> a fluctuating rate, or base rate, equal to the greater of the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5% or JP Morgan
Chase's prime rate, or

> a fixed rate equal to a quoted LIBOR rate plus a variabie margin of 0.875% to 1.625%, depending on
the amount outstanding under the credit facility.

Interest is payable at calendar quarters for base rate loans and at the earlier of maturity or three months from the date
of the loan for fixed rate loans. In addition, the credit facility requires a commitment fee of:

= between 0.25% and 0.375% per annum on the unused portion of the designated borrowing base, and
= an additional fee equal to 33% of the commitment fee on the daily average amount by which the total
amount of commitments exceeds the designated borrowing base.

The weighted average interest rate was 6.22%, 7.9% and 6.59%, respectively, for the years ended December 31,
2001, 2000 and 1999.

The credit facility contains covenants, including restrictions on liens and financial covenants which require
-us to, among other things, maintain:

= an interest coverage ratio of 2.5 to 1.0 of earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation to cash
interest;

> atotal debt to capitalization ratio of less than 60%, exclusive of non-cash charges; and

s sets a maximum limit of 70% on the amount of natural gas production we may hedge during any 12
month period.

In addition to maintenance of financial ratios, the credit facility restricts cash dividends and/or purchase or

redemption of our stock. The credit facility also restricts the encumbering of our oil and gas assets or the pledging of
those assets as collateral. As of December 31, 2001, we were in compliance with all covenants.
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Senior Subordinated Notes. On March 2, 1998, we issued $100 million of 8%/3% Senior Subordinated Notes
due January 1, 2008. The notes bear interest at a rate of 8°/s% per annum with interest payable semi-annually on
January 1 and July 1. We may redeem the notes at our option, in whole or in part, at any time on or after January 1,
2003 at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, plus a specified
premium which decreases yearly from 4.313% in 20603 to 0% after January 1, 2006 if the notes are redeemed prior to
January 1, 2006. Upon the occurrence of a change of control, we will be required to offer to purchase the notes at a
purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. A "change
of control" is:

» the direct or indirect acquisition by any person, other than KeySpan or its affiliates, of beneficial
ownership of 35% or more of total voting power as long as KeySpan and its affiliates own less than the
acquiring person,

= the sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition, other than by way of merger or consolidation,
in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of our assets to a third party other than
KeySpan or its affiliates;

= the adoption of a plan relating to our liquidation or dissolution; or

o if, during any period of two consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of this period
constituted our board of directors, including any new directors who were approved by a majority vote of
the stockholders, cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the members then in office.

The notes are general unsecured obligations and rank subordinate in right of payment to all existing and

future senior debt, including the credit facility, and will rank senior or equal in right of payment to all existing and
future subordinated indebtedness.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Natural Gas Hedging. We utilize derivative commodity instruments to hedge future sales prices on a
portion of our natural gas production to achieve a more predictable cash flow, as well as to reduce our exposure to
adverse price fluctuations of natural gas. Our derivatives are not held for trading purposes. While the use of hedging
arrangements limits the downside risk of adverse price movements, it also limits increases in future revenues as a
result of favorable price movements. The use of hedging transactions also involves the risk that the counterparties
are unable to meet the financial terms of such transactions. Hedging instruments that we use are swaps, collars and
options, which we generally place with major financial institutions that we believe are minimal credit risks. Our
hedges are cash flow hedges and qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS 133 and, accordingly, we carry the fair
market value of our derivative instruments on the balance sheet as either an asset or liability and defer gains or
losses in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. Gains and losses are reclassified from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income to the income statement as a2 component of natural gas and oil revenues in the period the
hedged production occurs. If any ineffectiveness occurs, amounts are recorded directly to other income or expense.
At December 31, 2001 we estimated, using a New York Mercantile Exchange (NYMEX) index price strip as of that
date, that the fair market value of our hedges represented an asset of $53.8 million or $34.9 million net of deferred
taxes.

The following table summarizes the change in the fair value of our derivative instruments from our
adoption of SFAS 133 on January 1, 20C1 to year end December 31, 2001.

Change in Fair Value of Derivatives Instruments 2001
Fair value of contracts at January 1 and adoption of SFAS 133......cccccvverevemniniennecronnnens $ (75,069)
Gain on contracts T€AlZEd .......cueeeevicieiee e e e et 12,926
Fair value of new contracts When entered ...........ccvvvvvviiiieireiieesiesressesseessnesneesveessesneens 5,931

Changes in fair values due to changes in valuation assumptions ..........cvceeeererereresrinnenens —

Other changes in fRir VAIUES .....ccceiiiieiececieeiniires e res e e eres e essssesses s nesassens 109,983
Fair value of contracts outstanding at December 31 ......cccceeeeeerereeinresiereeseerersevessesaens $ 53771

The following table summerizes on a monthly basis our hedges for 2002 and 2003. All amounts are in
thousands, except for prices. For 2002, we have hedged approximately 60% of our estimated production or a total of
170,000 MMBtwday at an effective floor of $3.436 and an effective ceiling of $4.942 for the months January
through March. For the months April through December 2002, we have hedged approximately 70% of our estimated
production or a total of 190,000 MMBtu/day at an effective floor of $3.389 and an effective ceiling of $4.801. Cur
effective floor for 2002 includes premiums paid for derivative instruments totaling $5.9 million. We will amortize
the premiums to expense during 2002 at a rate of approximately $0.5 million per month. For the year 2003, we have
60,000 MMBtu/day hedged at an effective floor of $3.229 and an effective ceiling of $3.486.
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Fixed Price Swaps Collars

NYMEX NYMEX
Volume Contract Velume Contract Price
Period (MMbtu) Price (MMbtu) Avg Floor  Avg Cefling
January 2002 930 $ 3.010 4,340 $3.643 $5.356
February 2002 840 3.010 3,920 3.643 5.356
March 2002 " 930 3010 4,340 3.643 5.356
April 2002 900 3.010 4,800 3.561 5.137
May 2002 930 3.010 4,960 3.561 5.137
June 2002 900 3.010 4,800 3.561 5.137
July 2002 930 3.010 4,960 3.561 5.137
August 2002 930 3.010 4,960 3.561 5.137
September 2002 900 3.010 4,800 3.561 5.137
October 2002 930 3.010 4,960 3.561 5.137
November 2002 900 3.010 4,800 3.561 5.137
December 2002 930 3.010 4,960 3.561 5.137
January 2003 1,240 $3.194 620 $ 3300 § 4.070
‘February 2003 1,120 3.194 580 3.300 4.070
March 2003 1,240 3.194 620 3.300 4.070
April 2003 1,200 3.194 600 3.300 4.070
May 2003 1,240 3.194 620 3.300 4070
June 2003 1,200 3.194 600 3.300 4.070
July 2003 1,240 3.194 620 3.300 4.070
August 2003 1,240 3.194 620 3.300 4.070
September 2003 1,200 3.194 600 3.300 4.070
October 2003 1,240 3.194 620 3.300 4070
November 2003 1,200 3.194 600 3.300 4.070
December 2003 1,240 3.194 620 3.300 4,070

These hedging transactions are settled based upon the NYMEX price on the final trading day of the month.
In order to determine fair market value of our derivative instruments, we obtain market to market quotes from
external counterparties.

With respect to any particular swap transaction, the counterparty is required to make a payment to us if the
settlement price for any settlement period is less than the swap price for the transaction, and we are required to make
payment to the counterparty if the settlement price for any settlement period is greater than the swap price for the
transaction. For any particular collar transaction, the counterparty is required to make a payment to us if the
settlement price for any settlement period is below the floor price for the transaction, and we are required to make
payment to the counterparty if the settlement price for any settlement period is above the ceiling price for the
transaction. We are not required to make or receive any payment in connection with a collar transaction if the
settlement price is between the floor and the ceiling. For option contracts, we have the option, but not the obligation,
to buy contracts at the strike price up to the day before the last trading day for that NYMEX contract.

For a description of some of the bonding requirements related to offshore production proposed by the

Minerals Management Service, please read "Items 1 and 2. Business and Properties — Environmental Matters and
Regulation.”
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Item 8. Financial Statements
The financial statements required by this item are incorporated under Item 14 in part I'V of this report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Part ITI.
Item 18. Directors and Executive Qfficers of the Registrant

The information required by this Item 10 that relates to our directors and executive officers is incorporated
by reference from the information appearing under the captions "Election of Directors” and "Executive Officers” in
our definitive proxy statement which involves the election of directors and is to be filed with the Securities and -
Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year
on December 31, 2001.

[tem 11. Execwutive Compensation

The information required by this Item 11 that relates to the management is incorporated by reference from
the information appearing under the captions "Executive Compensation" and "Election of Directors - Director's
Meetings and Compensation” in our definitive proxy statement which involves the election of directors and is to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 within 120
days of the end of our fiscal year on December 31, 2001. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in accordance with the
instructions to Item 402 of Regulation S-K, the information contained in our proxy statement under the subheading
"Report of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors" and "Performance Graph" shall not be deemed
to be filed as part of or incorporated by reference into this Form 10-X.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Beneficial Owners and Meanagement

' The information required by this Item 12 that relates to the ownership by management and others of
securities is incorporated by reference from the information appearing under the caption "Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" in our definitive proxy statement which involves the election of
directors and is to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year on December 31, 2001.

Item 13. Cereain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item 13 that relates to business relationships and transactions with
management and other related pasties is incorporated by reference from the information appearing under the
captions "Certain Transactions" and "Executive Compensation — Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider
Participation" in our definitive proxy statement which involves the election of directors and is to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 within 120 days of the end of
our fiscal year on December 31, 2001,
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Part V.
ltem 14. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Reports on Form 8-K
(a) Documents Filed as a Part of this Report

1. Financial Statements:

PAGE
Index to Financial STAETIEIILS .....cc.cecvviiriiviererienseseeeritiiearerseesssessaeseeserssssesseeseessesosessssesesssisessestoneas F-1
Report of Independent Public ACCOUNIANLS.......ccovririeiiiiviciiiiie e reertenestsiesn e et reseeenestsiaresesanas F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets As of December 31, 2001 and 2000 ...........ocveeereeeeeeervnreerereseneneesnns F-3

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999. F-4

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and Comprehensive Income for the Period F-5
December 31, 1999 to December 31, 2001

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements....................... ettt et eeteereerte e e e e reease st e rn e neentastesaeeas F-7

Supplemental Information on Natural Gas and Qil Exploration, Development and
Production Activities (Unaudited) ...........ccovuireereerieciiniiiereiieiciese e s s rese s s s et eesenes F-24

Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)..........cccorevuererereerereriecoencenearesenesesesninnenermsinenens F-28

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, not required, or because the required
information is included in the financial statements or related notes.

2. Exhibits:

See Index of Exhibits on page F-29 for a description of the exhibits filed as a part of this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant
has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

THE HOUSTON EXPLORATION COMFPANY

By: /s/ William G. Hargett
William G. Hargett
Date: March 12, 2002 President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchaﬁge Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by
the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature Title Date

fs/ William G. Hargett President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 12, 2002
William G. Hargett (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ James F. Westmoreland Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and March 11, 2002

James F. Westmoreland Secretary (Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Robert B. Catell Chairman of the Board of Directors March 11, 2002
Robert B. Catell

/s/ Gordon F. Ahalt Director March 13, 2002
Gordon F. Ahait

/s/ David G. Elkins Director March 11, 2002
David G. Elkins
/s/ Russell D. Gordy Director March 13, 2002

Russell D. Gordy

/s/ Gerald Luterman Director March 13, 2002
Gerald Luterman

/s/ Craig G. Matthews Director March 13, 2002
Craig G. Matthews

/s/ H. Nei] Nichols Director March 13, 2002
H. Neil Nichols

/s/ James Q. Riordan Director March 13, 2002
James Q. Riordan
/s/ Donald C. Vaughn Director March 11, 2002

Donald C. Vaughn
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Glessary of Oil and Gas Terms

The definitions set forth below apply to the indicated terms as used in this: Annual Report on Form 10-K. All
volumes of natural gas referred to are stated at the legal pressure base of the state or area where the reserves exist
and at 60 degrees Fahrenheit and in most instances are rounded to the nearest major multiple.

Bbl. One stock tank barrel, or 42 U.S. gallons liquid volume, used in reference to crude oil or other liquid
hydrocarbons.

Bbl/d. One barrel per day.
Bcf. Billion cubic feet.

Bcfe. Billion cubic feet equivalent, determined using the ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of crude oil,
condensate or natural gas liquids.

Btu. British thermal unit, which is the heat required to raise the temperature of a one-pound mass of water from
58.5 t0 59.5 degrees Fahrenheit.

Completion. The installation of permanent equipment for the production of oil or gas, or in the case of a dry
hole, the reporting of abandonment to the appropriate agency.

Developed acreage. The number of acres allocated or assignable to producing wells or wells capable of
production.

Developed well. A well drilled within the proved area of an oil or gas reservoir to the depth of a stratigraphic
horizon known to be productive.

Dry hole or well. A well found to be incapable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such that
proceeds from the sale of the production exceed production expenses and taxes.

Exploratory well. A well drilled to find and produce oil or gas reserves not classified as proved, to find a new
reservoir in a field previously found to be productive of oil or gas in another reservoir or to extend a known
reservoir.

Farm-in or farm-out. An agreement where the owner of a working interest in an natural gas and oil lease
assigns the working interest or a portion of the working interest to another party who desires to drill on the leased
acreage. Generally, the assignee is required to drill one or more wells in order to earn its interest in the acreage. The
assignor usually retains a royalty or reversionary interest in the lease. The interest received by an assignee is a
"farm-in" while the interest transferred by the assignor is a "farm-out."

Field. An area consisting of a single reservoir or multiple reservoirs all grouped on or related to the same
individual geological structural feature or stratigraphic condition.

Gross acres or gross wells. The total acres or wells, as the case may be, in which a working interest is owned.

Intangible Drilling and Development Costs. Expenditures made by an operator for wages, fuel, repairs, hauling,
supplies, surveying, geological works etc., incident to and necessary for the preparing for and drilling of wells and
the construction of production facilities and pipelines.

MBbIs. One thousand barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.

MBbls/d. One thousand barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons per day.

Mcf. One thousand cubic feet.




Glossary of Qil and Gas Terms

Mecf7d. One thousand cubic feet per day.

Mcfe. One thousand cubic feet equivalent, determined using the ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of
crude oil, condensate or natural gas liquids.

Mecfe/d. One thousand cubic feet equivalent, determined using the ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of
crude oil, condensate or natural gas liquids per day.

MMBbls. One million barrels of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons.
MMbrty. One million Btus.

MMMbtu. One billion Btus.

MMcf. One million cubic feet.

MMcf7d. One million cubic feet per day.

MMcfe. One million cubic feet equivalent, determined using the ratio of six Mcf of natural gas to one Bbl of
crude oil, condensate or natural gas liquids.

Net acres or net wells. The sum of the fractional working interests owned in gross acres or gross wells.
Oil. Crude oil and condensate.

Present value. When used with respect to natural gas and oil reserves, the estimated future gross revenue to be
generated from the production of proved reserves, net of estimated production and future development costs, using
prices and costs in effect as of the date indicated, without giving effect to non-property related expenses such as
general and administrative expenses, debt service and future income tax expenses or to depreciation, depletion and
amortization, discounted using an annual discount rate of 10%.

Productive well. A well that is found to be capable of producing hydrocarbons in sufficient quantities such that
proceeds from the sale of the production exceed production expenses and taxes.

Proved developed nonproducing reserves. Proved developed reserves expected to be recovered from zones
behind casing in existing wells.

Proved developed producing reserves. Proved developed reserves that are expected to be recovered from
completion intervals currently open in existing wells and able to produce to market.

Proved reserves. The estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liguids which geological and
engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs

under existing economic and operating conditions.

Proved undeveloped location. A site on which a development well can be drilled consistent with spacing rules
for purposes of recovering proved undeveloped reserves.

Proved undeveloped reserves. Proved reserves that are expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled
acreage or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required from recompletion.

Recompletion. The completion for production of an existing well bore in another formation from that in which
the well has been previously completed.
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Glossary of Oil and Gas Terms

Reservoir. A porous and permeable underground formation containing a natural accumulation of producible oil
or gas that is confined by impermeable rock or water barriers and is individual and separate from other reservoirs.

Royalty interest. An interest in a natural gas and oil property entitling the owner to a share of oil or gas
production free of costs of production.

Tangible Drilling and Development Costs. Cost of physical lease and well equipment and structures. The costs
of assets that themselves have a salvage value.

Undeveloped acreage. Lease acreage on which wells have not been drilled or completed to a point that would
permit the production of commercial quantities of natural gas and oil regardless of whether the acreage contains
proved reserves.

Working interest. The operating interest which gives the owner the right to drill, produce and conduct operating
activities on the property and a share of production.

Workover. Operations on a producing well to restore or increase production.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Houston Exploration Company (a
Delaware corporation and an indirect 67%-owned subsidiary of KeySpan Corporation) and subsidiary, As of
December 31, 2001 and 2000, and the related consolidated statements of operations, siockholders' equity and
comprehensive income and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of The Houston Exploration Company and subsidiary, As of December 31, 2001 and 2000, and
the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, in
conformity with accounting principles generaliy accepted in the United States.

As discussed in the Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company adopted Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as
amended", on January 1, 2001.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

New York, New York
February 4, 2002
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THE HOUSTON EXPLORATION COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2001 2000

(in thousands, except share data)

Assets:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS.........c.voveeveiirinriieiereer e eeeesesesrereesrens $ 8,619 $ 9,675
ACCOUNIES TECEIVADIE c....viivii ittt st e ee e s reeseenssasesanssnns 43,847 100,966
Accounts receivable — ATTIHALE . ......ccooioiiieeiie et reee e e eeaeaeaeeseassenne 635 13,635
Derivative financial INStUMENS .......c.cevvvviriiniieece e ies e sveeseeaes 53,771 —
IDVEDOTIES. .cvviieccrvrieeerreierteseserrreesbeessaecesare s seesesasetssenasasssesesassnsessaranes 1,149 1,923
Prepayments and Other ...t 2,959 1913
TOtal CUITEIE ASSEIS. .. veeeviiiereieiiireeeeeseesveseeeesseieeeeesereaseesaresseeessees 110,980 128,112
Natural gas and oil properties, full cost method
Unevaluated PTOPETTIES .ovveveviviecrierieririirese e veseresesstenrsssesr s e eesasanens 177,987 142,890
Properties subject to amortization ...........ccoevveeevvveceveiresiineeerceninene e 1,493,293 1,162,000
Other property and qUIPIENLE .........oveeeeivreereveicreerenrere e essiresreseessrses 8,265 9,852
1,679,545 1,314,742
Less: Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization................ (740.784) (609,352)
938,761 705,390
OhET BSSELS «.vvrvvveeeereeesssecessssessnsssssssssesssssne s sssssssesssssesssssssnsssses 9,351 3,882
TOLAL ASSBLS ..eeveiuiiierciricsrinesesserersesasesne e ebeste b e eesee b e easeesbases $1,059.092 $ 837.384
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued eXpenses.........ocvevvveeeriinicerriveinerereeenes $ 76,666 $ 108,366
Total current Habilities .....ooecveeeiniieie e v v 76,666 108,366
Long-term debt And NOLES .............veereeereeeeeeeeereesesesesseseesessenseeseresenn 244,000 245,000
Deferred federal iNCOME TAXES ...couvvvevvieiiveriiriitieesieeiee s rvesieneseessnesenes 172,169 87,040
Other deferred Habilities .........cccoieeeieveii oo 376 236
Total LIaDIIIES .ovvecerrerieiereerereceeseesestesereesseerrensesseneoressssasess 493,211 440,642
Commitments and Contingencies (See Note 10)
Stockholders' Equity:
Common Stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized and
30,463,230 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2001 and
29,829,050 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2000......- 305 298
Additional paid-in capital..........cccoeieiiieeveiirecriniieeeeccree e 336,977 325,205
Unearned COMPENSALION......ciueereiereierereerseasarieiarreseesereessssersssersssssssassessas (192) —
Retained CaMMINES . .c.coreriiiiiieierererreer et eres e e seesae e sa e seets e saanens 193,840 71,239
Accumulated other comprehensive iNCOmME ........ccouvievenreverersreieeneennenns 34951 ' —
Total Stockholders’ EQUILY ......ccccvevereieevenererrecsceein oo 565,881 396,742
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' EQUILY ...oocoevvverererererereens $1,059.092 § 837.384

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




THE HOUSTON EXPLORATION COMPANY
CONSQOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999

(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues:
Natural gas and oil revenues........ceeeeeveeveeerivereneeecresceerens $ 379,504 $ 270,595 $§ 150,580
ORET .ottt e asne et ane e sr s e 1,353 1,738 1,147
TOtal TEVENUES. ...ovecerivereirrererecviercisivrorercesrenssesssseessssnens 380,857 272,333 151,727
QOperating expenses:
Lease Operating.........ccovereeeereneet e bt nnetena 25,291 23,553 18,406
SEVETANCE TAX...veoveerierrireerrrerseerensreesersissressssesenssesssenssssnsanes 11,035 9,757 5,444
Depreciation, depletion and amortization..........c..cerereeeeerenene 128,736 89,239 74,051
Writedown in carrying value of natural gas and oil 6,170 — —
General and adminiStrative, Dt ...............vevveerrersemsseessesssens 17,110 8.928 4,150
Total OPErating EXPENSES ......ceveererereeresrererersreseseseresssenns 188,342 131,477 102,051
Income from OPErationS......ccoueereverreecrrrcrrrsnreseeseerensseresenanes 192,515 140,856 49,676
Strategic reVIEW EXPENSES...ccovirerrerisrerrecrernecrersesessessaasessesns 119 1,752 —
Interest EXPEnSe, NEL ...uvvviiiiciiieinniiiereiiisirenes e rereneineresnnes 2,992 11,361 13,307
Income before INCOME tAXES .....vccvevvveieviiirene e et esneesareneens 189,404 127,743 36,369
Provision for federal inCOME tAXES ....ccvveverreerierercraierernrenereennes 66,803 42,485 11,748
Net MOOMIE ... cueevrrerrerrereie vt it ceerereserestesssresessasessessessssessnes $ 122601 § 85258 § 24,621
Net income Per SHare .........ccovveecrveeeiernrsreresiesrsassreessessesnsas $ 40638 3068 1.03
Net income per share— assuming dilution........ccceveceeererrerones 3 4.00 § 3.02 § 0.95
Weighted average shares outstanding........oceeeevevriecvesiereerannns 30,228 27,860 23,206

Weighted average shares outstanding — assuming dilution ... 30,645 28,213 28,310

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements




THE HOUSTON EXPLORATION COMPANY

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY AND

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Other
Additional Retained Accumulated Total
Common Paid-In- Earnings Unearned Comprehensive Stockholders’

Stockholders' Equity Stock Capital (Deficit) Compensation Income Equity
Balance December 31, 1998................. $ 239 $230,931 $(38,640) $ — 3 — $192,530
Common stock™.........cc..covvrivrirereie. — 439 — — — 439
Net INCOME....c..coieeereeieerieienie e — — 24,621 — — 24,621
Balance at December 31, 1999 ............. $ 239 §$231,370 $(14,019) $ — 3 — $217,590
Common stock®™® . .....oovovovrrororr. 59 93835 — — — 93,894
Net INCOME. ..o renens — — 85,258 — — 85,258
Balance December 31, 2000................. $ 298 $325205 §71239 § — 3 — $396,742
Common stock™@........ccouvvrvrrecrrirnnenn, 7 10,438 — — — 10,445
Unamortized value of restricted stock .. — — —_ (192) — (192)
Tax benefit from non-qualified stock

OPHOMS 1o cvveerirer e eereresnesetneesneesoreseanaens — 1,334 — — — 1,334
Unrealized gains on derivative ‘

instruments, net of taxes.................. — — — — 34,951 34,951
Net INCOME....cveveeierrereeeiriiieieenererenans — — 122,601 — — 122,601
Balance December 31, 2001 ................. $ 305 $336977 $193.840 3§ (192) §$34951 $565,881

]
@

Common stock issued through the exercise of stock options. See Note 4 — Stock Option Plans.
Includes 5,085,177 shares issued on March 31, 2000 to our majority stockholder, KeySpan Corporation,

pursuant to the conversion of $80 million in outstanding borrowings under a revolving credit facility with

KeySpan. See Note 3 — Stockholders' Equity.
3

$25.58 per share. See Note 6 — Related Party Transactions.

Years Ended December 31,

Comprehensive Income 2001 2000 1999

Net NCOME.....cvirrcriiiinn e sensesin, § 122,601 §$ 85258 §$§ 24,621

Other comprehensive income, net of taxes

Unrealized gain on derivative

instruments, net of taxes™ .....oovovoeeeeeeee, 34,951 — —
Comprehensive INCOME........ccvevrrerreeeernieereerensreessnnnn, $ 157552 $§ 85258 § 24,621

O Unrealized gain on derivative instruments net of $18.8 million in tax expense.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE HOUSTON EXPLORATION COMPANY
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)

Operating Activities:
NEL HICOME ...vvr ettt e b ssenens $ 122,601 § 85258 § 24,621
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities:

Depreciation, depletion and amortization ............cccevveerveeriinvennen. 128,736 89,239 74,051
Writedown in carrying value of natural gas and oil properties ..... 6,170 — —
Deferred income taX EXPENSE ......ceverrerervenrerereerneesisreressserorersssesses 67,643 43,303 12,709
Stock cOmMPEnsation EXPENSE......ccveveeveerrerereerierenreressesrsressssssressns 64 — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable.........occoverrivcrieeerennnne 70,119 (67,369) (24,045)
Decrease (inCrease) in inVenOries.....uureerererenreniresreesrresnessnesssesanns 774 (954) (54)
Increase in prepayments and OtheT......oovveevevieeeeveeeeeeeesneseseeenenas (1,046) 831) (328)
Increase in other assets and other deferred liabilities.................... (5,329) 217 (143)
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses...._ (31,700) 52,362 23,261
Net cash provided by operating activities ..........c.vevvveerreveeererveernnae 358,032 200,791 110,072

Investing Activities:

Investment in property and eqGUIPMENt.......covuvveereiveierrreveereererenns (368,277 (184,512) (147,943)
Dispositions and Other........ccvcirirnieneienneneneere st v s veseoranas — — 289
Net cash used in investing aCHVIHES ......ccocevevrivvirrireeerereeeeeseeenerenns (368,277) (184,512) (147,654)

Financing Activities:

Proceeds from long-term BOTTOWINGS....cccovevveieievcieireecreereeeesesereres 172,000 32,000 64,000
Repayments of long-term bOrTOWINGS ......covevvvervrereriereseceeessseserne (173,000) (68,000) (16,000)
Proceeds from issuance of common StOCK .....c.ovvvevveeerevererrvenarenns 10,189 13,894 439
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities ............cecereruene 9,189 (22,106) 48,439
(Decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents..............ccovervenenen (1,056) (5,827) 10,857
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year..........c..ccocerverirvenenn, 9,675 15,502 4,645
Cash and cash equivalents, end of YEar......occvvvevvvevevieeeceecereeversreens $ 86198 96758 15502
Cash paid fOr INTEIEST .....evvvevrerireiriiiieee e e esee et eesesessases $ 14777 8 25490 § 23970
Cash paid for federal iNCOME tAXES .......cvvveneerrrrreerrreeeermrresererssens $ 4758 _— % —

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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THE HOUSTON EXPLORATION COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NQOTE 1 — Summary of Organization and Significant Accounting Policies
Organization

We are an independent natural gas and oil company engaged in the exploration, development, exploitation
and acquisition of domestic natural gas and oil properties. Our operations are currently focused offshore in the Gulf of
Mexico and onshore in South Texas, the Arkoma Basin of Oklahoma and Arkansas, South Louisiana, the Appalachian
Basin in West Virginia and East Texas. Our strategy is to utilize our technical expertise to continue to increase
reserves, production and cash flows through the application of a three-pronged approach that combines an effective
mix of:

= high potential offshore exploration and exploitation,;
o lower risk, high impact exploitation and development drilling onshore; and
o selective opportunistic acquisitions both offshore and onshore

At December 31, 2001, our net proved reserves were 608 Bcefe, with a discounted present value of cash flows
before income taxes of $714 million. Our focus is natural gas. Approximately 93% of our net proved reserves at
December 31, 2001 were natural gas of which approximately 74% of our net proved reserves were classified as proved
developed. We operate approximately 85% of our properties.

We began exploring for natural gas and oil in December 1985 on behalf of The Brooklyn Union Gas
Company. Brooklyn Union is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of KeySpan Corporation. KeySpan, a member of
the Standard & Poor's 500 Index, is a diversified energy provider whose principal natural gas distribution and electric
generation operations are located in the Northeastern United States. In September 1996 we completed our initial public
offering. As of December 31, 2001, THEC Holdings Corp., an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of KeySpan, owned
approximately 67% of the outstanding shares of our common stock.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the accounts of our wholly owned subsidiary,
Seneca Upshur Petroleum Company. All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Reclassifications
We have made some reclassifications of prior years to conform with current year presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Qur most significant financial estimates are based on
remaining proved natural gas and oil reserves. Estimates of proved reserves are key components of our depletion rate
for natural gas and oil properties and our full cost ceiling test limitation. See Note 12 — Supplemental Information on
Natural Gas and Oil Exploration, Development and Production Activities. Because there are numerous uncertainties
inherent in the estimation process, actual results could differ from the estimates.
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THE HOUSTON EXPLORATION COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Net Income Per Share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares of
common stock outstanding during the period. No dilution for any potentially dilutive securities is included. Diluted
earnings per share assumes the conversion of all potentially dilutive securities and is caiculated by dividing net
income, as adjusted, by the sum of the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding plus ali
potentially dilutive securities.

Under the requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, our earnings per sharé are
as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999

(in thousands, except per share data)
NEE IICOMIE ...cveervre e e ererereterernseses e sesteses st tesssteseesesnsssesaessssessessaresastoras $122,601 § 85,258 § 24,621
Interest savings on convertible debt.......cocoiveecriirrccincicreceeene. — — 2.398
Net income, a8 adJuSIEd.....c..vceiirieererineire st se et besesenens $122601 $ 85258 3§ 27019
Weighted average shares outstanding ..........ccccevevecienircecennienieesesnssennas 30,228 27,860 23,906

Add dilutive securities: ‘
OPHOMS ..o reeee sttt seernessessees e steseress e e see st s e snensesssssstssesneberens 417 353 206
Convertible debl ......cvecevvvieriieneieccr e e — — 4,198
Total weighted average shares outstanding and dilutive securities......... 30.645 28,213 28,310
Net inCOme PEr Share.........coccuvireeererieinircerieieerisiseeeseseesesesseseseraeses $§ 406 § 306 § 1.03

Net income per share — assuming dilution ...........cceevevvvreeesenneesennnns $§ 400 § 3.02 § 095

Natural Gas and Oil Properties

Full Cost Accounting. We use the full cost method to account for our natural gas and oil properties. Under
full cost accounting, all costs incurred in the acquisition, exploration and development of natural gas and oil reserves
are capitalized into a "full cost pool". Capitalized costs include costs of all unproved properties, internal costs directly
related to our natural gas and oil activities and capitalized interest. We amortize these costs using a unit-of-production
method. We compute the provision for depreciation, depletion and amortization quarterly by multiplying production
for the quarter by a depletion rate. The depletion rate is determined by dividing our total unamortized cost base by net
equivalent proved reserves at the beginning of the quarter. Unevaluated properties and related costs are excluded from
our amortization base until we have made a determination as to the existence of proved reserves. Qur amortization
base includes estimates for future development costs as well as future abandonment and dismantlement costs.

Under full cost accounting rules, total capitalized costs are limited to a ceiling of the present value of future
net revenues, discounted at 10%, plus the lower of cost or fair value of unproved properties less income tax effects (the
"ceiling limitation"). We perform a quarterly ceiling test to evaluate whether the net book value of our full cost pool
exceeds the ceiling limitation. If capitalized costs (net of accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization) less
deferred taxes are greater than the discounted future net revenues or ceiling limitation, a writedown or impairment of
the full cost pool is required. A writedown of the carrying value of the full cost pool is a non-cash charge that reduces
earnings and impacts stockholders' equity in the period of occurrence and typically results in lower depreciation,
depletion and amortization expense in future periods. Once incurred, a writedown is not reversible at a later date.




THE HOUSTON EXPLORATION COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The ceiling test is calculated using natural gas and oil prices in effect as of the balance sheet date, held flat
over the life of the reserves. We use derivative financial instruments that qualify for hedge accounting under Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 133 to hedge against the volatility of natural gas prices, and in
accordance with current Securities and Exchange Commission guidelines, we include estimated future cash flows from
our hedging program in our ceiling test calculation. In calculating the ceiling test at December 31, 2001, we estimated,
using a wellhead price of $2.38 per Mcf, that our capitalized costs exceeded the ceiling limitation by $6.2 million
($4.0 million after tax). As a result, we reduced or "wrote down" the carrying value of our full cost pool and incurred a
charge to earnings of $6.2 million (84.0 million, after tax). Natural gas prices continue to be volatile and the risk that
we will be required to writedown our full cost pool increases when natural gas prices are depressed or if we have
significant downward revisions in our estimated proved reserves.

In calculating our ceiling test at December 31, 2000 and 1999, we estimated, using a wellhead price of $9.55
per Mcf and $2.01 per Mcf, respectively, that we had a full cost ceiling "cushion” at each of the respective balance
sheet dates, whereby the carrying value of our full cost pool was less that the ceiling limitation by $1.4 billion (after
tax) for 2000 and $99.2 million (after tax) for 1999. No writedown is required when a cushions exists.

Proceeds from the dispositions of natural gas and oil properties are recorded as reductions of capitalized
costs, with no gain or loss recognized, unless the adjustments significantly alter the relationship of unamortized
capitalized costs and total proved reserves.

Other Property and Equipment

Cther property and equipment include the costs of West Virginia gathering facilities which are depreciated
using the unit-of-production basis utilizing estimated proved reserves accessible to the facilities. Also included in other
property and equipment are costs of office furniture, fixtures and equipment which are recorded at cost and
depreciated using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives ranging between two to five years.

Income Taxes

We determine deferred taxes based on the estimated future tax effect of differences between the financial
statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities given the provisions of enacted tax laws. These differences relate
primarily to

 intangible drilling and development costs associated with natural gas and oil properties, which are
capitalized and amortized for financial reporting purposes and expensed as incurred for tax reporting
purposes and

< provisions for depreciation and amortization for financial reporting purposes that differ from those used
for income tax reporting purposes.

Inventories

Inventories consist primarily of tubular goods used in our operations and are stated at the lower of the specific
cost of each inventory item or market value.

General and Administrative Costs and Expenses

We receive reimbursement for administrative and overhead expenses incurred on behalf of other working
interest owners on properties we operate. These reimbursements totaling $1.2 million, $3.6 million and $5.7 million
for the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, respectively, were allocated as reductions to general and
administrative expenses. Included in reimbursements received during 2000 and 1999 are general and administrative
reimbursements received from KeySpan pursuant to the joint exploration agreement with KeySpan, see Note 6 —
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THE HOUSTON EXPLORATION COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Related Party Transactions of $2.5 million and $4.8 million, respectively. The capitalized general and administrative
costs directly related to our acquisition, exploration and development activities, during 2001, 2000 and 1999,
aggregated $12.8 million, $9.6 million and $5.5 million, respectively.

Capitalization of Interest

We capitalize interest related to our unevaluated natural gas and oil properties and some properties under
development which are not currently being amortized. For the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 we
capitalized interest costs of $12.0 million, $13.7 million and $11.9 million, respectively.

Revenue Recognition and Gas Imbalances

We use the entitlements method of accounting for the recognition of natural gas and oil revenues. Under this
method of accounting, income is recorded based on our net revenue interest in production or nominated deliveries. We
incur production gas volume imbalances in the ordinary course of business. Net deliveries in excess of entitled
amounts are recorded as liabilities, while net under deliveries are reflecied as assets. Imbalances are reduced either by
subsequent recoupment of over-and under deliveries or by cash settlement, as required by applicable contracts.
Production imbalances are marketed-to-market at the end of each month using market prices as of the end of the
period. Our production imbalances represented liabilities of $376,000 and $236,000, respectively, at December 31,
2001 and 2000.

Financial Instruments

The estimated fair value of financial instruments is the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged
currently between willing parties. On the balance sheet, we report cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and
accounts payable at cost or carrying value, which approximates fair value due to the short maturity of these
instruments. Pursuant to our adoption of SFAS 133 on January 1, 2001, our derivative financial instruments are
reported on the balance sheet at fair market value.

Hedging Contracts

We utilize derivative commodity instruments to hedge future sales prices on a portion of our natural gas
production in order to achieve a more predictable cash flow and to reduce our exposure to adverse price fluctuations.
Our derivatives are not held for trading purposes. While the use of hedging arrangements limits the downside risk of
adverse price movements, it also limits increases in future revenues from possible favorable price movements.
Hedging instruments that we use include swaps, costless collars and options, which we generally place with major
financial institutions that we believe are minimal credit risks. Our hedging strategies meet the criteria for hedge
accounting treatment under SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative and Hedging Activities". Accordingly, we
mark-to-market our derivative instruments at the end of each quarter, and defer the effective portion of the gain or loss
on the change in fair value of our derivatives in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, a component of
stockholders' equity. We recognize gains and losses when the underlying transaction is completed, at which time these
gains and losses are reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income and included in earnings as a
component of natural gas revenues in accordance with the underlying hedged transaction. If hedging instruments cease
to meet the criteria for deferred recognition, any gains or losses would be currently recognized in earnings. At
December 31, 2001, we estimated, using the New York Mercantile Exchange, or NYMEX, index price strip as of that
date, that the fair market value of our derivative instruments was $53.8 million. As a result, our balance sheet at
December 31, 2001 reflects an asset of $53.8 million with a corresponding credit of $34.9 million (net of related
deferred taxes of $18.9 million) in accumulated other comprehensive income, representing the fair market value of our
deferred hedge gain. See Note 8 — Hedging Contracts.
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THE HOUSTON EXPLORATION COMPANY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Concentration of Credit Risk

Substantially all of our accounts receivable result from natural gas and oil sales or joint interest billings to
third parties in the oil and gas industry. This concentration of customers and joint interest owners may impact our
overall credit risk in that these entities may be similarly affected by changes in economic and other conditions.
Historically, we have not experienced credit losses on these receivables. We are exposed to credit risk in the event of
nonperformance by counterparties to futures and swaps contracts. We believe that the credit risk related to the futures
and swap contracts is no greater than that associated with the primary contracts which we hedge, as these contracts are
with major investment grade financial institutions, and that elimination of the price risk lowers our overall business
risk.

Stock Options

We account for stock-based compensation using the intrinsic value method prescribed in Accounting
Principles Board ("APB") Cpinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees," and related interpretations.
Accordingly, compensation cost for stock options is measured as the excess, if any, of the fair value of common stock
at the date of the grant over the amount the employee must pay to acquire the common stock. If the exercise price of a
stock option is equal to the fair market value at the time of grant, no compensation expense is incurred. See Note 4 —
Stock Options — Fair Value of Employee Stock-Based Compensation for disclosure had stock options been accounted
for based upon the fair value provisions of the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") SFAS No. 123,
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation."

New Accounting Pronouncements

We adopted the FASB SFAS No. 133, "Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities" on
January 1, 2001. The statement, as amended, requires companies to report the fair market value of derivatives on the
balance sheet and record in income or in accumulated other comprehensive income, as appropriate, any changes in the
fair market value of the derivative. We utilize cash flow hedges to reduce the risk of price volatility for our future
natural gas production. Our hedges qualify for hedge accounting under SFAS 133 because they are highly effective as
they are tied to the same indexes at which our natural gas production is sold. As a result, when we mark-to-market our
derivative instruments at the end of each quarter, we are able to defer the gain or loss on the change in fair value in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income, a component of shareholders' equity.

The FASB has recently issued SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations," SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets," SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” and SFAS No. 144,
"Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets."

SFAS No. 141, "Business Combinations, " requires the use of the purchase method of accounting for all
business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001, SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets", addresses
accounting for the acquisition of intangible assets and accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets after they
have been initially recognized in the financial statements. We do not currently have goodwill or otber similar
intangible assets; therefore, the adoption of the new standard on January 1, 2002, has not had a material effect on our
financial statements.

SFAS No. 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,” addresses accounting and reporting for
obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. SFAS
No. 143 will be effective for us January 1, 2003 and early adoption is encouraged. SFAS No. 143 requires that the fair
value of a liability for an asset's retirement obligation be recorded in the period in which it is incurred and the
corresponding cost capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. The liability is
accreted to its then present value each period, and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related
asset. If the liability is settled for an amount other than the recorded amount, a gain or loss is recognized. Currently,
we include estimated future costs of abandonment and dismantlement in our full cost amortization base
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

and amortize these costs as a component of our depletion expense. We are evaluating the impact the new standard will
have on our financial statements.

SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets," is effective for us January
1, 2002, and addresses accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. SFAS No. 144
supersedes SFAS No. 121, "Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be
Disposed Of" and APB Opinion No. 30, "Reporting the Results of Operations-Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a
Segment of a Business." SFAS No. 144 retains the fundamental provisions of SFAS No. 121 and expands the
reporting of discontinued operations to include all components of an entity with operations that can be distinguished
from the rest of the entity and that will be eliminated from the ongoing operations of the entity in a disposal
transaction. We believe that the new standard will not have a material impact on cur financial statements.

NOTE 2 — Long-Term Debt and Notes

As of December 31,
2001 2000
(in thousands)
Senior Delbt:
Bank revolving credit fAaCIlitY ......cocvevevecererirecicecsice e ereenenene $ 144,000 $ 145,000
Subordinated Debt:
8%/5% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2008..............oveoreeereeererrsereseeeosrnees 100,000 _ 100.000
Total long-term debt and NOLES ........ccveeverriniiireiice st erersse e ensssenes $244.000 $245,000

The carrying amount of borrowings outstanding under the revolving bank credit facility approximates fair
market value as interest rates are tied to current market rates. At December 31, 2001, the quoted market value of the
8°/5% senior subordinated notes was 102% of the $100 million carrying value or $102 million.

Credit Facility

We maintain a revolving bank credit facility with a syndicate of lenders led by JPMorgan Chase, National
Association. The credit facility, as amended, provides a maximum commitment of $250 million, subject to borrowing
base limitations. At December 31, 2001, the borrowing base amount was $250 million. Up to $2.0 million of the
borrowing base is available for the issuance of letters of credit to support performance guarantees. The credit facility
matures on March 1, 2003 and is unsecured. At December 31, 2001, $144 million was outstanding under the credit
facility and $0.4 million was outstanding in letter of credit obligations. Subsequent to year end December 31, 2001, we
borrowed an additional $7.0 million, bringing outstanding borrowings and leiter of credit obligations to $151.4 million
as of March 14, 2002.

Interest is payable on borrowings under the credit facility, at our option, at:

> afluctuating rate, or base rate, equal to the greater of the Federal Funds rate plus 0.5% or JP Morgan
Chase's prime rate, or

= a fixed rate equal to a quoted LIBOR rate plus z variable margin of 0.875% to 1.625%, depending on the
amount outstanding under the credit facility.
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Interest is payable at calendar quarters for base rate loans and at the earlier of maturity or three months from the date
of the loan for fixed rate loans. In addition, the credit facility requires a commitment fee of:

= between 0.25% and 0.375% per annum on the unused portion of the designated borrowing base, and
o an additional fee equal to 33% of the commitment fee on the daily average amount by which the total
amount of commitments exceeds the designated borrowing base.

The weighted average interest rate was 6.22%, 7.9% and 6.59%, respectively, for the yéars ended December 31, 2001,
2000 and 1999.

The credit facility contains covenants, including restrictions on liens and financial covenants which require us
to, among other things, maintain:

> an interest coverage ratio of 2.5 to 1.0 of earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation to cash interest;

> atotal debt to capitalization ratio of less than 60%, exclusive of non-cash charges; and

o sets a maximum limit of 70% on the amount of natural gas production we may hedge during any 12 month
period.

In addition to maintenance of financial ratios, the credit facility restricts cash dividends and/or purchase or redemption
of our stock. The credit facility also restricts the encumbering of our oil and gas assets or the pledging of those assets
as collateral. As of December 31, 2001, we were in compliance with all covenants.

Senior Subordinated Notes

On March 2, 1998, we issued $100 million of 8%/;% senior subordinated notes due January 1, 2008. The notes
bear interest at a rate of 8°/3% per annum with interest payable semi-annually on January 1 and July 1. We may
redeem the notes at our option, in whole or in part, at any time on or after January 1, 2003 at a price equal to 100% of
the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, plus a specified premium if the notes are redeemed prior
to January 1, 2006. Upon the occurrence of a change of control, we will be required to offer to purchase the notes at a
purchase price equal to 101% of the aggregate principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any. A "change of
control" is:

= the direct or indirect acquisition by any person, other than KeySpan or its affiliates, of beneficial
ownership of 35% or more of total voting power as long as KeySpan and its affiliates own less than the
acquiring person;

= the sale, lease, transfer, conveyance or other disposition, other than by way of merger or consolidation, in
one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all of our assets to a third party other than
KeySpan or its affiliates;

o the adoption of a plan relating to our liquidation or dissolution; or

o if, during any period of two consecutive years, individuals who at the beginning of this period constituted
our board of directors, including any new directors who were approved by a majority vote of the
stockholders, cease for any reason to constitute a majority of the members then in office.

The notes are general unsecured obligations and rank subordinate in right of payment to all existing and

future senior debt, including the credit facility, and will rank senior or equal in right of payment to all existing and
future subordinated indebtedness.
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NOTE 3 — Stockholders' Equity
KeySpan Credit Facility and Conversion

On November 30, 1998, we entered into a revolving credit facility with KeySpan, which provided a
maximum commitment of $150 million. We borrowed $80 million under the credit facility to finance a portion of the
November 1998 acquisition of the Mustang Island A-31 Field. On March 31, 2000, the outstanding borrowings of $80
million were converted into 5,085,177 shares of our common stock at a conversion price of $15.732 per share. As a
result of the conversion, KeySpan's ownership interest in us increased from 64% at December 31, 1999 to 67% at
December 31, 2001. The conversion price was determined based upon the average of the closing prices of our
common stock, rounded to three decimal places, as reported under "NYSE Composite Transaction Reports" in the
Wall Street Journal during the 20 consecutive trading days ending three trading days prior to March 31, 2000. The
conversion of the KeySpan Facility and the corresponding issuance of additional shares of our common stock to
KeySpan was approved by our stockholders at our annual meeting held April 27, 1999. Borrowings under the facility
bore interest at LIBOR plus 1.4% and we incurred a quarterly commitment fee of 0.125% on the unused portion of the
maximum commitment. The credit facility terminated on March 31, 2000. For the years ended December 31, 2000 and
1999, we incurred $1.5 million and $5.5 million, respeciively, in interest and fees to KeySpan.

NOTE 4 — Stock Option Plans
1996 Stock Option Plan

The 1996 Stock Option Plan was adopted at the completion of our initial public offering in September 1996,
and amended in 1997. The 1996 Plan limits the number of options authorized for grant to 10% of the outstanding
shares of our common stock. The 1996 Plan allows us to grant both incentive stock options and non-gualified options.
Options granted under the 1996 Stock Option Plan expire 10 years from the grant date and vest in one-fifth increments
on each of the first five anniversaries of the grant date, with the exception of options granted to non-employee
directors whose options vest immediately upon grant. As of December 31, 2001, approximately 14,509 options were
authorized and available for grant under the 1996 Stock Option Plan. Since the plan's inception in 1996, a total of
3,027,203 options have been granted of which 1,532,890 were unexercised As of December 31, 2001. Of the options
outstanding at December 31, 2001, 357,385 are incentive based options and the balance of 1,175,505 are non-qualified
stock options. Common stock issued through the exercise of non-qualified options will result in a tax deduction for us,
equivalent to the taxable gain recognized by the optionee. Generaily, we will not receive an income tax deduction for
incentive based options.

1999 Stock Option Plan

In October 1999, we adopted the 1999 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan. Under the 1999 Stock Option Plan,
a total of 800,000 options have been authorized of which 661,006 options have been granted and 631,058 are
outstanding As of December 31, 2001. At December 31, 2001, the 1999 Stock Option Plan had 140,942 options
available for grant. All options under the 1999 Stock Cption Plan are non-qualified, expire 10 years from the grant
date and vest in one-fifth increments on each of the first five anniversaries of the grant date, with the exception of
options granted to non-employee directors which vest on the date of grant.
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Phantom Stock Rights

1996 Phantom Stock Grant. In December 1996, we granted our key employees 176,470 phantom stock rights
that give the holder the right to receive a cash payment determined by reference to the fair market value of one share
of our common stock. Twenty percent (20%) of the phantom stock rights were payable on December 16th of each of
the years 1997 through 2001. On each date on which a phantom stock right is payable, the holder received a cash
payment equal to the average of the closing prices per share of our common stock for the five trading days
immediately preceding the payment date multiplied by the number of phantom stock rights payable on the date.
During 2001, 2000 and 1999, we made payments of $1.0 million, $1.0 million and $0.6 million, respectively for the
vested portion of phantom stock rights. Payments made in December 2001 represented the final payments pursuant to
the 1996 grant.

Incentive Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors. In October 1997, we adopted an incentive
compensation plan for non-employee, non-affiliated directors under which they may defer current compensation in the
form of phantom stock rights that are tied to the market price of the common stock on the date services are performed.
Phantom stock rights are exchanged for a cash distribution upon retirement.

The table below sets forth a summary of activity during the respective years for both the 1996 and 1999 Stock
Option Plans.

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
Shares  Price™  Shares  Price> _Shares ~_Price®

Options outstanding January 1............. 1,660,245 $ 17.99 2,379,558 $§ 1741 2,083,038 § 17.17

Granted........cooceevereerrereneneeceeeneerennens 1,129,871 30.15 106,000 22.71 327,900 18.87

Exercised.......ccvvvemeennincnnecrenreenenn, (624,180) 16.32  (820,853) 16.93 (28,080) 15.56

Forfeited........ccoeeerirmererrsecrcrercnienens (1,988) 29.02 (4.460) 18.83 (3,300) 18.56
Options outstanding December 31 ....... 2,163,948 $ 24.81 1660245 $ 17.99 2379.558 $ 1741
Options exercisable December 31........ 940,929 § 21.83 721,654 $§ 17.43 1,001,343 § 16.87
Options available for grant December 31 155,451 682,698 286,638
M Weighted average price. Grant price equal to closing market price on the NYSE on date of grant.

The table below sets forth a summary of options granted and outstanding, their remaining contractual lives, a
weighted average exercise price and number vested and exercisable As of December 31, 2001.

December 31, 2001
Weighted Average

Options Remaining Exercise Price Options Options
Qutstanding Contractual Life Qutstanding Exercisable

168,269 S years $ 15.54 168,269

219,060 6 years 20.03 166,640

261,696 7 years 19.06 167,676

282,980 8 years 18.85 185,720

103,100 9 years 22.65 41,100
1,128,843 10 years 30.15 211,524
2,163,948 $§ 24381 940.929
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Fair Value of Employee Stock-Based Compensation

We account for the incentive stock plans using the intrinsic value method prescribed under Accounting
Principles Board No. 25 and accordingly we have not recognized compensation expense for stock options granted.
Had stock options been accounted for using the fair value method as recommended in SFAS No. 123, compensation

expense would have had the following pro forma effect on our net income and earnings per share for the years ended
December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(in thousands, except per share data)

Net income - as repoTted....c.eiuiiiirierierreiereiieertesee e e esrste s erevreens $122,601 § 85,258 $ 24,621
Net income - pro fOrma .....ccevvvevererieseninsierreieeeeeesesseresreereeneeseesns 118,226 81,964 21,915
Net income per share - as rePOrted ........covvuvveerierrremveieveressrsnsnssesenerens $ 406 8% 306 $ 103
Net income per share - assuming dilution - as reported........c.cceeeuen. 4.00 3.02 0.95
Net income per share - Pro forma.......cevveeveeieieneincsieer e ciseeseennne $ 391 % 294 $§ 092
Net income per share - assuming dilution - pro forma.........cveveenee.. 3.86 291 0.77

The effects of applying SFAS No. 123 in this pro forma disclosure may not be representative of future
amounts. The weighted average fair values of options at their grant date during 2001, 2000 and 1999, where the
exercise price equaled the market price on the grant date, were $13.45, $10.22 and $8.45, respectively. The fair value
of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the
following assumptions used for grants in 2001, 2000 and 1999:

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
RisK-fT€€ INtETESE TALE .....covereriierrereeereererereireeesrrererseesesesnesessesessoses 5.80% 5.91% 5.96%
Expected years until €XerciSe.....ovvrerreercrseeriricertnnerieserensssesseesessesncns 5 5 5
Expected stock volatility .......coeeeeviieiinrc s sreeee 41% 41% 41%

Expected divIdends ........coeierviiviiiereinienniereeeenrestee e eresee e — — —
NQTE 5 — Income Taxes
The components of the federal income tax provision (benefit) are:

Years Ended December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(in thousends)

............................................................................................... $ (840) $  (818)$  (961)
............................................................................................. 67,643 43303 _ 12,709
.............................................................................................. $ 66803 $ 42485 $ 11748
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The credit in the current provision primarily represents Section 29 tax credits (see Note 6—Related Party
Transactions). As of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, we had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income
tax purposes of approximately $29 million, $34 million and $43 million, respectively, that may be used in future years
to offset taxable income.

The following is a reconciliation of statutory federal income tax expense (benefit) to our income tax
provision:

Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)
Income before income taxes.......ccocereveverrevvereennnn, $ 185,404 $ 127,743 § 36,369
StAtULOTY TALE c.vcvevvierveererreriinreecr oo er et teseebessenas 35% 35% 35%
Income tax expense computed at statutory rate...... 66,291 44,710 12,729
Reconciling items:
Section 29 tax credits and other tax credits™ ... 512 (2.225) (981)

TaX EXPENSE...ovuieeeriereaierirrecrreresserrenresereseseseereessons $ 66,803 $ 42,485 $ 11,748

' Year ended 2001 includes an adjustment for an under-accrual of tax expense in 2000.
Deferred Income Taxes

The components of net deferred tax liabilities pursuant to SFAS No. 109 for the years ended December 31,
2001 and 2000 primarily represent temporary differences related to depreciation of natural gas and oil properties.

NOTE ¢ — Related Party Transactions

Transactions With Keyspan
KeySpan Credit Facility and Conversion (See Note 3— Stockholders' Equity)
Review of Strategic Alternatives

In September 1999, we, along with KeySpan, our majority stockholder, announced our intention to review
strategic alternatives for Houston Exploration and for KeySpan's investment in Houston Exploration. KeySpan was
assessing the role of our company within its future strategic plan, and was considering a full range of strategic
transactions including the sale of all or a portion of Houston Exploration. J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. was retained by
KeySpan as financial advisor to assist in the strategic review on behalf of KeySpan. Our Board of Directors appointed
a special committee comprised of outside directors to assist in the review process. We retained Goldman, Sachs and
Co. as financial advisor. On February 25, 2000, together with KeySpan we jointly announced that the review of
strategic alternatives had been completed and that KeySpan plans to retain its equity interest in us for the foreseeable
future, however, KeySpan considers its investment in Houston Exploration a non-core asset. We incurred expenses
relating to this review of strategic alteratives totaling $0.1 million during 2001 and $1.8 million during 2060.
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KeySpan Joint Venture

Effective January 1, 1999, together with KeySpan, we entered into a joint exploration agreement with
KeySpan Exploration & Production, LLC, a subsidiary of KeySpan, to explore for natural gas and oil over an initial
two year term expiring December 31, 2000. Under the terms of the joint venture, we contributed ali of our then
undeveloped offshore acreage to the joint venture and KeySpan received 45% of our working interest in all prospects
drilled under the program. KeySpan paid 100% of actual intangible drilling costs for the joint venture up to a specified
maximum of $7.7 million in 2000 and $20.7 million during 1999 and KeySpan paid 51.75% of all additional
intangible drilling costs incurred and we paid 48.25%. Revenues are shared 55% Houston Exploration and 45% to
KeySpan. In addition, we received reimbursements from KeySpan for a portion of our general and administrative
costs.

Effective December 31, 2000, KeySpan and Houston Exploration agreed to end the primary or exploratory
term of the joint venture. As a result, KeySpan will not participate in any of our offshore exploration prospects unless
the project involves the development or further exploitation of discoveries made during the initial term of the joint
venture, In addition, effective with the termination of the exploratory term of the joint venture, we will not receive
any reimbursement from KeySpan for general and administrative costs.

Since the beginning of our joint venture with KeySpan in January 1999, KeySpan has spent a total of $99.3
on exploration and development, with § 17.2 miltion spent during 2001, $46.5 million spent during 2000 and $35.6
million spent during 1999. During the initial two-year exploratory term of the joint venture, we received from
KeySpan a total of $7.3 million in general and administrative expense reimbursements, with $2.5 million paid during
2000 and $4.8 million paid during 1999. Reimbursement for general and administrative expenses terminated in 2000
with the expiration of the exploratory term of the joint venture.

During the initial two-year term of the joint drilling program, we drilled a total of 21 weils under the terms of
the joint venture: 17 exploratory wells and four development wells. Five of the wells driiled were unsuccessful.
During 2001, KeySpan participated in three additional wells, all of which were successful and further developed or
delineated reservoirs discovered during the initial term of the joint venture. For 2002, KeySpan has committed to a
capital budget of $15 million for development projects associated with its working interests in wells drilled under the
joint venture during 1999, 2000 and 2001.

Sale of Section 29 Tax Credits

In January 1997, we entered into an agreement to sell to a subsidiary of KeySpan interests in our onshore
producing wells that produce from formations that qualify for tax credits under Section 29 of the Internal Revenue
Code Section 29 provides for a tax credit from non-conventional fuel sources such as oil produced from shale and tar
sands and natural gas produced from geopressured brine, Devonian shale, coal seams and tight sands formations.
KeySpan acquired an economic interest in wells that are qualified for the tax credits and in exchange, we:

= retained a volumetric production payment and a net profits interest of 100% in the properties,
= received a cash down payment of $1.4 million and
o receive a quarterly payment of $0.75 for every dolar of tax credit utilized.

We manage and administer the daily operations of the properties in exchange for an annual management fee
of $100,000. The income statement effect, representing benefits received from Section 29 tax credits, was a benefit of
$0.8 million, $0.9 million and 1.0 million, respectively, for each of the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000, and
1999.
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Transactions With Qur Executives
Restricted Stock Grant to New President and Chief Executive

On April 4, 2001, our Board of Directors appointed William G. Hargett to serve as our President and Chief
Executive Officer and to serve on its Board of Directors. Pursuant to an employment agreement entered into on April
4, 2001 between us and Mr. Hargett, Mr. Hargett received a grant of 10,000 restricted shares of Houston Exploration
common stock with a fair market value of approximately $256,000 at the time of grant. The stock is restricted from
transfer and subject to forfeiture in the event Mr. Hargett's employment is terminated prior to April 4, 2004 and will
otherwise vest, be nonforfeitable and freely transferable in equal one-third increments on each anniversary of the grant
date. The cost of the restricted stock will be recognized in earnings as compensation expense over the stock's three
year vesting period. During 2001, we recognized stock compensation expense of $64,000 related to this restricted
stock grant.

Employment Contracts

We have entered into employment contracts with all seven of our executive officers. Contracts are initially set
for a three year period and automatically extended one year on each anniversary unless either party gives notice within
a specified number of days prior to the anniversary of the employment agreement. Executive officers receive annual
salary and bonus payments pursuant to their employment contracts and if we terminate an employment agreement
without cause or if the employee terminates an employment agreement with good reason, as defined in the
employment agreements, we are obligated to pay the employee a lump-sum severance payment of 2.99 times the
employee's then current annual rate of total compensation, as defined in the agreement, in addition to the continuation
of welfare benefits for a specified time period.

Termination of Employment Agreements for Former Executives

Effective March 31, 2001, our President and Chief Executive Officer and Director, James G. Floyd, and our
Senior Vice President - Exploration and Production, Randall J. Fleming, retired. Each had served in their respective
positions since the Company's inception in 1986. In connection with their retirement as executive officers, each of
Messrs. Floyd and Fleming agreed to the termination of their respective employment agreements. They received lump
sum severance payments of $2.3 million and $1.4 million, respectively. Effective September 30, 2001, Thomas W.
Powers, our Chief Financial Officer, left the Company to pursue other interests. In connection with the termination of
his employment agreement with us, Mr. Powers received a lump sum severance payment of approximately $1.5
million. In total, the Company has incurred approximately $5.2 million in general and administrative expenses during
2001 as a result of the termination of employment contracts with former executives.

Transactions with Former President and Chief Executive Officer

Prior to our initial public offering in September 1996, we were party to an employment agreement with our
former President and Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Floyd. Under this employment agreement, we had:

= granted Mr. Floyd an option to obtain up to a 5% working interest in specified exploration prospects,
exercisable at the time of acquisition of the prospect or prior to the commencement of drilling of the initial
well on any of the prospects;

= assigned to Mr. Floyd a 2% net profits interest in all exploration prospects at the time the properties were
acquired,;

o assigned to key employees designated by Mr. Floyd overriding royalty interests equivalent to a 4% net
revenue interest in specified properties at the time we acquired the properties; and

o assigned to Mr. Floyd a 6.75% after program-payout working interest in the leases upon which we began
drilling an exploratory well (whether or not successful) during a calendar year.
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. Mr. Floyd and his affiliates opted to acquire a 5% working interest in the Charco Field properties we acquired

in July 1996 and the right to participate with a 5% working interest in any future wells we drilled in the Charco Field.
We loaned to Mr. Floyd the $3.1 million purchase price for the purchase of a 5% working interest in the Charco Field
properties. In addition, we agreed to loan to Mr. Floyd, on a revolving basis, the amounts required to fund the
expenses attributable to his working interest. Mr. Floyd was required to repay amounts owed under the loan in the
amount of 65% of all distributions received in respect to the working interest, as distributions are received. Amounts
outstanding under the loan accrued interest at an interest rate equal to our cost of borrowing under our credit facility.
Obligations under the agreement were secured by a pledge of Mr. Floyd's working interest in, and the production from,
the properties. As of December 31, 2000, the outstanding balance owed by Mr. Floyd under the loan was $0.6 million.
Mr. Floyd repaid the loan in full as of February 28, 2001.

No assignments were made to Mr. Floyd or to key employees subsequent to 1995 and upon completion of our
initial public offering in September 1996, Mr. Floyd's employment agreement was replaced with a new employment
agreement which did not provide Mr. Floyd with the option to participate in our prospects as a working interest owner
or to receive or grant assignments or after program-payout working interests; however, due to the nature of an
overriding royalty interest, Mr. Floyd and any employees receiving assignments will continue to receive payments
pursuant to their overriding interest until production from the related property ends.

In January 2000, we agreed to exchange all of the working interests and net profits interests Mr. Floyd had
acquired in our properties pursuant to the initial employment agreement for an overriding royalty interest in those
same properties. The exchange, was effective October 1, 1999, and was structured such that the net present value we
would earn and that Mr. Floyd would earn would be approximately the same regardless of the nature of Mr. Floyd's
participation in the earnings from the properties. As of October 1, 1999, the net present value, discounted at 10%, of
the properties exchanged was approximately $13.5 million,

During 2001 and 2000, Mr. Floyd received $6.9 million and $5.4 million (zet of $0.4 miilion in related
expenses), respectively, relating to his overriding royalty interests in our properties. During 1999, Mr. Floyd and his
affiliates received $4.7 million in revenues attributable to his previously held working interests and net profits interests
in our properties and paid $2.5 million in costs and expenses attributable to those properties.

NOTE 7 — Employee Benefit Plams
401(k) Profit Sharing Plan

We maintain a 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan for our employees. Under the 401(k) plan, eligible employees may
elect to have us contribute on their behalf up to 12.5% of their base compensation (subject to limitations imposed
under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended) on a before tax basis. We make a matching contribution of
$1.0C for each $1.00 of employee deferral, subject to limitations imposed by the 401(k) plan and the Internal Revenue
Service. The amounts contributed under the 401(k) plan are held in a trust and invested among various investment
funds, including the Company's common stock, in accordance with the directions of each participant. An employee's
salary deferral contributions under the 401(k) plan are 100% vested. Our matching contributions vest at the rate of
20% per year of service. Participants are entitled to payment of their vested account balances upon termination of
employment. We made contributions to the 401(k) plan of $0.7 millicn, $0.6 million and $0.3 million, respectively, for
the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan

We maintain an unfunded, non-qualified Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan. Currently, the only
beneficiary is our former President and Chief Executive Officer, James G. Floyd. Upon Mr. Floyd's retirement March
31, 2001, he is entitled to receive payment of $100,000 per year for life. If Mr. Floyd predeceases his spouse, 50% of
his retirement plan benefit will continue to be paid to his surviving spouse for her life. We incurred expenses of
approximately $113,000, $123,000 and $123,000, respectively, during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and
1999 related to this retirement plan.
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NQOTE 8 — Hedging Contracts
Natural Gas Price Swaps, Options and Collars

As of December 31, 2001, we had entered into commodity price hedging contracts with respect to our
production for 2002 and 2003 as listed in the table below. Volumes and fair values are stated in thousands.

Fixed Price Swaps Collars Fair Value
NYMEX NYMEX
Volume Contract VYolume Contract Price
Period (MMbtu) Price {(MMbtu) Avg Floor  Avg Ceiling ($ thousands)
January 2002 930 $3.010 4,340 $3.643 $5.356 $5,144
February 2002 840 3.010 3,920 3.643 5.356 4,585
March 2002 930 3.010 4,340 3.643 5.356 5,176
April 2002 200 3.010 4,200 3.643 5.356 5,054
May 2002 930 3.010 4,340 3.643 5.356 5,041
June 2002 900 3.010 4,200 3.643 5.356 4,654
July 2002 930 3.010 4,340 3.643 5.356 4,655
August 2002 930 3.010 4,340 3.643 5.356 4,497
September 2002 900 3.010 4,200 3.643 5.356 4,352
October 2002 930 3.010 4,340 3.643 5.356 4,385
November 2002 900 3.010 4,200 3.643 5.356 3,424
December 2002 930 3.010 4,200 3.643 5.356 2,690
January 2003 1,240 $3.194 o — — 10
February 2003 1,120 3.194 —_ — — 9
March 2003 1,240 3.194 — — — 10
April 2003 1,200 3.194 —_ — — 9
May 2003 1,240 3.194 — — — 10
June 2003 1,200 3.194 —_— — — 9
July 2003 1,240 3.194 — — — 10
August 2003 1,240 3.194 —_ — — 10
September 2003 1,200 3.194 — — - 9
October 2003 1,240 3.194 — - — 9
November 2003 1,200 3.194 — — — 9
December 2003 1,240 3.194 — — — 10
$53,771

At December 31, 2001, the fair market value of our derivative instruments was an asset of $53.8 million. Fair
market value is calculated for the respective months using prices derived from NYMEX futures contract prices
existing at December 31, 2001 and from market quotes received from counterparties.
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These hedging transactions are settled based upon the average of the reported settlement prices on the
NYMEX for the last three trading days of a particular contract month or the NYMEX price on the final trading day of
the month (the "settlement price"). With respect to any particular swap transaction, the counterparty is required to
make a payment to us in the event that the seitlement price for any settlement period is less than the swap price for the
transaction, and we are required to make payment to the counterparty in the event that the settlement price for any
settlement period is greater than the swap price for the transaction. For any particular collar transaction (excluding the
no-cost collars with floating floors discussed above), the counterparty is required to make a payment to us if the
settlement price for any settlement period is below the floor price for the transaction, and we are required to make
payment to the counterparty if the settlement price for any settlement period is above the ceiling price for the
transaction. We are not required to make or receive any payment in connection with a collar transaction if the
settlement price is between the floor and the ceiling.

As of December 31, 2000, we had entered into commodity price hedging contracts with respect to our
production for 2001 as follows:

Fixed Price Swaps Collars Fair Value
NYMEX NYMEX

Volume Contract Velume Contract Price
Period _(MMbtu) Price (MMbtu) Avg Floor Avg Ceiling ($ thousands)
January 2001 — $— 4,960 $3.63 $5.30 $ (23,208)
February 2001 — — 4,480 3.63 5.30 (20,052)
March 2001 —_— — 4,960 3.63 5.30 (17,524)
April 2001 — — 4,800 4.00 6.11 (2,981)
May 2001 — — 4,960 4.00 6.11 {1,303)
June 2001 — — 4,800 4.00 6.11 (1,221)
July 2001 — — 4,960 4.00 6.11 (1,341)
August 2001 — — 4,960 4.00 6.11 (1,386)
September 2001 — — 4,800 4.00 6.11 (1,350)
October 2001 — — 4,960 4.00 6.11 (1,491)
November 2001 — — 4,800 4.00 6.37 (1,419)
December 2001 — — 4,960 4.00 6.37 (1,793)
$ (75.069)

At December 31, 2000, the fair market value of our derivative instruments was a liability of $75 million. Fair
market value is calculated for the respective months using prices derived from NYMEX futures contract prices
existing at December 31, 2000 and from market quotes received from counterparties.
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NOTE 9 — Sales To Major Customers

We sold natural gas and oil production representing 10% or more of our natural gas and oil revenues for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 as listed below. In the exploration, development and production
business, production is normally sold to relatively few customers. However, based on the current demand for natural
gas and oil, we believe that the loss of any of our major purchasers would not have a material adverse effect on our
operations.

For the Year Ended December 31,

Major Purchaser 2001 2000 1929

Dynegy Inc. 16.4% 22.5% 18.0%
Adams Resources and Energy, Inc 12.5% 14.9% 22.5%
El Paso Corporation'” 9.5% 9.1% 7.7%

M Amount purchased was less than 10% of our natural gas and oil sales revenues, and is included

for information purposes only.

NOTE 10 — Commitments and Contingencies

Litigation

We are involved from time to time in various claims and lawsuits incidental to our business. In the opinion of
management, the ultimate liability, if any, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of
operations. ‘

Leases

We have entered into noncancellable operating lease agreements relative to the lease of our office space at
1100 Louisiana in Houston, Texas and various types of office equipment (telephones, copiers and fax machines) with

various expiration dates through 2009. Minimum rental commitments under the terms of our operating leases are as
follows (in thousands):

Minimunn
Year Ended December 31, Payments
2002 ettt e etttk eseeseenas § 942
2003 ..ttt et e 1,044
2004 ...ttt et bbb enae s enbane 1,094
2005 ottt et et se e e san s e e 1,139
2006 ....oorieerreeei et s s er e et st et 1,113
Thereafter........ccoovvevererennenns erereteerenaeereeaaeeer et et s trareroresbesarnanasanesas 3,326

Net rental expense related to these leases was $0.6 million, $0.5 million and $0.5 million, respectively, for the
years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.
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NOTE 11 — Acquisitions
Conoco Acquisition

On December 31, 2001, we completed the purchase of certain natural gas and oil properties and associated
gathering pipelines and equipment, together with developed and undeveloped acreage, located in Webb and Zapata
counties of South Texas, from Conoco Inc. The $69 million purchase price was paid in cash and financed by
borrowings under our revolving bank credit facility. The properties purchased cover approximately 25,274 gross
(16,885 net) acres located in the Alexander, Haynes, Hubbard and South Trevino Fields, which are in close proximity
to our existing operations in the Charco Field, and represent interests in approximately 159 producing wells. We
operate approximately 95% of the producing wells acquired and our average working interest is 87%. With this
acquisition, we have expanded and will improve our operations in South Texas which has been an area of strategic
growth for us over the last five years. During February 2002, the properties we acquired produced approximately 19.0
MMcfe per day, net to our interests.

NOTE 11I2— Supplemental Information On Natural Gas and Qi Exploration, Development and Production
Activities (Unaudited)

The following information concerning our natural gas and oil operations has been provided pursuant to
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 69, "Disclosures about Oil and Gas Producing Activities." Cur
natural gas and oil producing activities are conducted onshore within the continental United States and offshore in
federal and state waters of the Gulf of Mexico. Our natural gas and oil reserves were estimated by independent reserve
engineers.
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Capitalized Costs of Natural Gas and Oil Properties

As of December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999, our capitalized costs of natural gas and oil properties are as

follows:
As of December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)
Unevaluated properties, not amortized...............c.oeeveviievereniananns $ 177,987 $ 142890 $ 164,377
Properties subject to amortization...........ccc.ecvvenceeeeierececsesseeiens 1,493,293 1,162,000 956,484
Capitalized COSLS ..c.cvvrrrrrrirrrreriee e sseessensens 1,671,280 1,304,890 1,120,861
Accumulated depreciation, depletion and amortization ............. (735,257) (601,034) (512,465)
Net capitalized COSES ...oceririirririieririereseeeernt e seeree e eressesreres $ 936,023 $§ 703856 § 608,396

Unevaluated Cost Additions

The following is a summary of the costs (in thousands) which are excluded from the amortization calculation
As of December 31, 2001, by year of acquisition. We are not able to accurately predict when these costs will be

included in the amortization base; however, we believe that unevaluated properties at December 31, 2001 will be fully
evaluated within five years.

Unevaluated
Year Incurred Costs
2001 . $ 72,522
2000......cciirieee e 20,325
1999 16,957
PrIOT ... cctcteceiceireeee e et enetee 68,183

§ 177.987

Capitalized Costs Incurred

Costs incurred for natural gas and oil exploration, development and acquisition are summarized below. Costs
incurred during the years ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999 include interest expense and general and

administrative costs related to acquisition, exploration and development of natural gas and oil properties, of $24.9
million, $23.3 million and $17.4 million, respectively.

As of December 31,
2001 2000 1999

. (im thousands)
Property acquisition:
Unevaluated™ ..o $ 31,711 $ 7955 $ 10,337
PIOVEA ..ottt re st ree s st e ereresebasebe et srbeneesenas 85,367 38,579 37,105
EXPlOTation COStS....cccceierriieriiiiiiiieeeieceieiesresresre e e e essseeenreeseens 72,056 37,162 12,257
DevelopmeEnt COSLS . ...oivtrnierimiiniiinienreiereresesreeseeesnesresersreessaens 177,256 100,333 87,965

Total COSts MNCUITED. ......ccveirriiereecrerierrrceer et eresrenenes $ 366,390 $ 184029 $ 147,664
)

~ These amounts represent costs we incurred and excluded from the amortization base until proved reserves are
established or impairment is determined.
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Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows Relating to Proved Natural Gas and Oil
Reserves (unaudited)

The following summarizes the policies we used in the preparation of the accompanying natural gas and oil
reserve disclosures, standardized measures of discounted future net cash flows from proved natural gas and oil
reserves and the reconciliations of standardized measures from year to year. The information disclosed, as prescribed
by the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 69 is an attempt to present the information in a manner
comparable with industry peers.

The information is based on estimates of proved reserves attributable to our interest in natural gas and oil
properties as of December 31 of the years presented. These estimates were principally prepared by independent
petroleum consultants. Proved reserves are estimated quantities of natural gas and crude oil which geological and
engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable in future years from known reservoirs under
existing economic and operating conditions.

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows from production of proved reserves was
developed as follows:

1.  Estimates are made of quantities of proved reserves and future periods during which they are expected
to be produced based on year-end economic conditions.

2. The estimated future cash flows are compiled by applying year-end prices of natural gas and oil relating
to our proved reserves to the year-end quantities of those reserves.

3. The future cash flows are reduced by estimated production costs, costs to develop and produce the
proved reserves and abandonment costs, all based on year-end economic conditions.

4.  Future income {ax expenses are based on year-end statutory tax rates giving effect to the remaining tax
basis in the natural gas and oil properties, other deductions, credits and allowances relating to our

proved natural gas and oil reserves.

5. Future net cash flows are discounted to present value by applying a discount rate of 10 percent.

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows does not purport, nor should it be interpreted,
to present the fair value of our natural gas and oil reserves. An estimate of fair value would also take into account,
among other things, the recovery of reserves not presently classified as proved, anticipated future changes in prices
and costs and a discount factor more representative of the time value of money and the risks inherent in reserve
estimates.
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The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows relating to proved natural gas and oil reserves

is as follows and does not include cash flows associated with hedges outstanding at each of the respective reporting

dates:

As of December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)
Future cash inflows........ccoviininminieccnisc e $ 1,471,557 $ 5,189,328 $ 1,113,844
Future production COSES......ccevrerrverireririce e ecererine s (302,145) (542,139) {190,200)
Future development COStS.......ovverrmenrrirrrieieneneresenisensreenineneens (189,480) (153,210) (120,071)
Future INCOME TAXES .....cerreerereeieiereert e erenres e eresnesnesessaeseesns (211,191 (1.250.272) (155.641)
Future net cash flows .......ccoovvieienencieei e 768,741 3,243,707 647,232
10% annual discount for estimated timing of cash flows......... (217.216) (1,179.,680) (178,007)

Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows...... $ 551,525 _§ 2,064,027 § 469225

The following table summarizes changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows:

As of December 31,
2001 2000 1999
(in thousands)

Beginning of the YEar..........cceeeivvieieiecieriiinneeeresereiesessesenens $ 2,064,027 $ 469,225 $ 396,060
Revisions to previous eStimates: ...ooeveerreceeieresvuerrereserensereeseens

Changes in prices and COSS........ccurierierivririeieseereseinisesseerernes (2,088,576) 2,163,984 47,330

Changes in QUANTILIES ......c.ocvreererrerreerireierneeresseeeensseseseevens (52,928) 24,650 51,375

Changes in future development COStS..........oveveevveereierverinene. (18,001) (32,152) (25,730)
Development costs incurred during the period...........o.ccevvnnen. 65,940 57,046 40,563
Extensions and discoveries, net of related costs...........ocoevennee.. 116,710 403,012 91,383
Sales of natural gas and oil, net of production costs ................. (343,181) (237,286) (126,730)
Accretion of diSCOUNT .....cc..vviviiiiireiiceei e 279,648 52,967 41,293
Net change in INCOME tAXES....ccveererereriereerreereenrerreseeereesseeennne 635,400 (672,005) (43,572)
Purchase of reserves in place.........cccocvveveecvcverererenecess e 51,674 23,118 20,973
Sale of reserves i Place......cccvvivveverericrecierieieee s (133) — (2,194)
Production timing and other........c.ccocvvvevveeeniieiiieiiecee s (159.,055) (188,532) (21,526)
ENQ Of AT ....civveierieieeeieirtsre st sttt rerser e s bosseseanenns $ 551525 §2,064027 § 469225
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Estimated Net Quantities of Natural Gas and Oil Reserves (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth our net proved reserves, including changes, and proved developed reserves (all
within the United States) at the end of each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2001, 2000 and 1999.

Natural Gas Crude Ofl and Condensate
(MMlef) (MBbls)
2001 2000 1999 2001 2000 1999
Proved developed and
undeveloped reserves: ................ 529,518 526,185 470,447 5,352 2,470 1,650
Revisions of previous estimates .... (41,914) 3,709 45510 (174) 107 237
Extensions and discoveries............ 83,551 69,564 62,700 1,800 2,424 909
Production .......ccceeevvreeererernrereranens (87,095 (77,861) (69,679) (459) (311) (258)
Purchase of reserves in place ........ 84,148 7,921 20,699 115 662 1
Sales of reserves in place .............. — — (3.492) (29) — (6%)
End of year....c..cocvveverervencreeccnennne 568,208 _ 529,518 _ 526,185 6,605 5352 2,470
Proved developed reserves:
Beginning of year.......cveeeererveererens 420,733 397,343 369,931 1,810 1,796 1,498
End of year.......cocecvereeerevrecrernnns 438,538 420,733 397,343 2,123 1,810 1,796

NOTE 13— Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
Selected unaudited quarterly data is shown below:

Ist 2nd 3rd 4¢h
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter
(in thousands, except per share data)

2001

TOtAl FEVEMUES ......ooveveiirrereeriecrereesessteseessceresr et tre e s s ereestensenns $124,342 $ 99,308 $ 78,495 § 78,712
Income from OPETAtiONS......ccecerrirvirrrsrierrrereestecnsreeeecseressseossenes 75,199 56,876 34,394 26,046
NNEL INCOMIE ...eeiivtreeiercrreerieee st ee e ccte e st e e saee e e eseessarsssresennes 47344 35,855 22,530 16,872
Net income Per SHAre™ .........covuvcrerevrereerereressiseesseeeseeesseessenees $ 158 3% 1.19$ 074 8 055
Net income per share—assuming dilution™..........cooevvrerreennncs $ 1558% 1178 0738 0.55
2000

TOtAl FEVEIUES .....ovevveevvevereerneetesresseeeseseresereseessensssesmeesesssenesones $ 49348 §$ 57,930 $ 62,903 $102,152
Income from OPETations.......ccerereirerercrereeersrereceererienreesesneesesees 18,419 27,301 32,479 62,657
NEL INCOMIE ..vvieveeevrerere et esvr e e sressseresaseebeserasssanes 8,449 16,328 19,666 40,815
Net income PEr SHATEW.........vvveveeeeeereesseeseeeseeerseesssesssesesesssessees $ 035% 056 3% 067 3% 140
Net income per share—assuming dilution®...........c....coooovsrvrenecs $ 0353 05683 066 % 1.38

M Quarterly earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the quarter. Because
of the increase in the number of shares outstanding during the quarters due to the exercise of stock options or the issuance
of common stock (see Note 3—Stockholders’ Equity), the sum of quarterly earnings per share do not equal earnings per
share for the year.
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INDEX TQO EXHIBITS

DESCRIPTION

3.1 —
32—
4.1 —
10.19 —
1029 —
1039 —
1049 —
10.5 —
106 —
1079 —

10.89 —

1099 —

10.109 —

10.119 —

10.12 —

10.139 —

Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10- Q for
the quarterly period ended June 30, 1997 (File No. 001-11899) and incorporated by reference).
Restated Bylaws (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period
ended June 30, 1997 (File No. 001-11899) and incorporated by reference).

Indenture, dated as of March 2, 1998, between The Houston Exploration Company and The Bank of
New York, as Trustee, with respect to the 8°/3% Senior Subordinated Notes Due 2008 (including form
of 8°/s% Senior Subordinated Note Due 2008) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our
Registration Statement on Form S-4 (No. 333-50235)).

Employment Agreement dated July 2, 1996 between The Houston Exploration Company and James
G. Floyd (filed as Exhibit 10.8 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-
4437) and incorporated by reference).

Employment Agreement dated July 2, 1996 between The Houston Exploration Company and Randall
J. Fleming (filed as Exhibit 10.9 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-
4437) and incorporated by reference).

Employment Agreement dated July 2, 1996 between The Houston Exploration Company and Thomas
W. Powers (filed as Exhibit 10.10 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No. 333-
4437) and incorporated by reference).

Employment Agreement dated July 2, 1996 between The Houston Exploration Company and James
F. Westmoreland (filed as Exhibit 10.11 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration No.
333-4437) and incorporated by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of July 2, 1996 between The Houston Exploration Company
and THEC Holdings Corp. (filed as Exhibit 10.13 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-4437) and incorporated by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement between The Houston Exploration Company and Smith Offshore
Exploration Company (filed as Exhibit 10.15 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Registration
No. 333-4437) and incorporated by reference).

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of September 25, 1996 between The Houston Exploration
Company and James G. Floyd (filed as Exhibit 10.22 to our Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Registration No. 333-4437) and incorporated by reference).

Supplemental Executive Pension Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.23 to our Registration Statement on Form
S-1 (Registration No. 333-4437) and incorporated by reference).

Employment Agreement, dated September 19, 1996, between The Houston Exploration Company and
Charles W. Adcock (filed as Exhibit 10.26 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1996 (File No. 001-11899) and incorporated by reference).

Form of Letter Agreement from The Houston Exploration Company to each of James G. Floyd,
Randall J. Fleming, Thomas W. Powers, Charles W. Adcock, James F. Westmoreland and Sammye
L. Dees evidencing grants of Phantom Stock Rights effective as of December 16, 1956 (filed as
Exhibit 10.27 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996 (File No.
001-11899) and incorporated by reference).

Deferred Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (filed as Exhibit 10.24 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1997 (File No. 001-11899) and incorporated
by reference).

Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Option Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1998 (File No. 001-11899) and incorporated by reference).
Employment Agreement dated May 1, 1998 between The Houston Exploration Company and Thomas
E. Schwartz (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March
31, 1998 (File No. 001-11899) and incorporated by reference).
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10.14 —

10.15 —

10.16 —

10.17 —

10.18 —

10.19 —

10.2 —

1021 —

10.22 —

10239 —

10.249 —

10.259 —

10.269 —

10.279

Subordinated Loan Agreement dated November 30, 1998 between The Houston Exploration
Company and MarketSpan Corporation d/b/a KeySpan Energy Corporation (filed as Exhibit 10.30 to
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998 and incorporated by
reference).

Subordination Agreement dated November 25, 1998 entered into and among MarketSpan Corporation
d/b/a KeySpan Energy Corporation, The Houston Exploration Company and Chase Bank of Texas,
National Association (filed as Exhibit 10.31 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1998 (File No. 001-11899) and incorporated by reference).

First Amendment to Subordinated Loan Agreement and Promissory Note between KeySpan
Corporation and The Houston Exploration Company dated effective as of October 27, 1999 (filed as
Exhibit 10.17 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 (File No.
001-11899) and incorporated by reference).

Exploration Agreement between The Houston Exploration Company and KeySpan Exploration and
Production, L.L..C., dated March 15,1999, (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q for the quarter ended March 31, 1999 (File No. 001-11899) and incorporated by reference).

First Amendment to the Exploration Agreement between The Houston Exploration Company and
KeySpan Exploration and Production, L.L.C. dated November 3, 1999 (filed as Exhibit 10.19 to our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 (File No. 001-11899) and
incorporated by reference).

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement among The Houston Exploration Company and Chase
Bank of Texas, National Association, as agent, dated March 30,1999, (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the guarter ended March 31, 1999 (File No. 001-11899) and
incorporated by reference).

First Amendment and Supplement to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated May 4, 1999 by
and among The Houston Exploration Company and Chase Bank of Texas, National Association, as
agent, (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
1999 (File No. 001-11899) and incorporated by reference).

Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between The Houston Exploration
Company and Chase Bank of Texas, National Association, as agent, dated October 6, 1999, (filed as
Exhibit 10.32 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1999 (File
No. 001-11899) and incorporated by reference).

Third Amendment and Supplement to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement between The
Houston Exploration Company and Chase Bank of Texas, National Association, as agent, dated
December 9, 1999 (filed as Exhibit 10.23 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 1999 File No. $01-11899) and incorporated by reference).

1999 Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan dated Cctober 26, 1999 (filed as Exhibit 10.24 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 File No. 001-11899) and incorporated
by reference).

Change of Control Plan dated October 26, 1999 (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to our Annual Report on Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999 File No. 001-11899) and incorporated by reference).
Restated Exploration Agreement dated June 30, 2000 between The Houston Exploration Company
and KeySpan Exploration and Production, L.L.C (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended September 30, 2000 File No. 061-11899) and incorporated by reference).

First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated March 8, 2001 between The Houston Exploration
Company and Thomas W. Powers (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2001 File No. 001-11899).

Employment Agreement dated April 4, 2001 between The Houston Exploration Company and
William G. Hargett {filed as Exhibit 10.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2001 File No. 001-11899). '
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10.28@ — First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 26, 2001 between The Houston Exploration
Company and Charles W. Adcock (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2001 File No. 001-11899).

10.299 — First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 26, 2001 between The Houston Exploration
Company and Thomas W. Schwartz (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended March 31, 2001 File No. 001-11899)

10.309 — First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated April 26, 2001 between The Houston Exploration
Company and James F. Westmoreland (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended March 31, 2001 File No. 001-11899).

10319 — Employment Agreement dated July 16, 2001 between The Houston Exploration Company and Tracy
Price (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September
30, 2001 File No. 001-11899).

10.3200@__ Employment Agreement dated October 22, 2001 between The Houston Exploration Company and
Steven L. Mueller.

10.330@_ Employment Agreement dated March 1, 2002 between The Houston Exploration Company and Roger
B. Rice.

1219 — Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed charges.

2110 — Subsidiaries of Houston Exploration.

2319 — Consent of Arthur Andersen LLP.

232 —  Consent of Netherland, Sewell & Associates.

2330 — Consent of Miller and Lents.

W Filed herewith.

@

Management contract or compensation plan,
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Exhibit 12.1
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
For the Years Ended December 31,

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
(in thousands)

Fixed Charges:
Gross interest expense $ 15034 $ 25100 $ 25,167 $ 14414 § 6,811
Interest portion of rent expense 46 40 28 39 32
15,080 25,140 25,195 14,453 6,843

Earnings:

Income (loss) before taxes 189,404 127,743 36,369  (113,440) 33,423
Plus: fixed charges 15,080 25,140 25,195 14,453 6,843
Less: capitalized interest (12,042) (13,739) (11,860) (9.817) (5,873)
$ 192442 §$ 139,144 $ 49,704 3(108,804) $ 34,393
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges 12.8x 5.5% - 2.0x N/M 5.0x
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THE HOUSTODON

EXRPLORATI O N

COMPANY

Corporate

Information

The Houston Exploration Company common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (symbol THX).
At March 25, 2002, the Company’s shares of common stock outstanding were held by approximately 40 share-

holders of record and 3,100 beneficial owners.

‘CORPORATE OFFICES

The Houston Exploration Company
1100 Louisiana

Suite 2000

Houston, Texas 77002-5219

{(713) 830-6800
www.houstonexploration.com

ANNUAL MEETING

The Houston Exploration Company will
hold its Annual Meeting of Shareholders
on Friday, May 17, 2002 at 10 am at

The DoubleTree Hotel

Allen Center

400 Dallas Street

Houston, Texas.

FORM 10-K REQUESTS

Shareholders interested in obtaining, without
cost, a copy of the Form 10K filed by the
company with the Securities and Exchange
Commission may do so by writing to the
Corporate Secretary, at the company address.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Shareholders, brokers, securities analysts
or portfolio managers seeking information
about the company are welcome to contact
Kerry Thornhill-Houston, Director of Investor
Relations and Corporate Communications, at
(713) 830-6887.

INDEPENDENT
PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Arthur Andersen LLP
1345 Avenue of the Americas
New York, NY 10105

Communications concerning the transfer of
shares, lost certificates, duplicate maitings or
change of address should be directed to the
stock transfer agent.

STOCK TRANSFER AGENT
AND REGISTRAR

The Bank of New York
1-800-524-4458

Address Shareholder Inquiries to:
Shareholder Relations Department — 11E
PO. Box 11258
Church Street Station
New York, NY 10286

E-Mail Address:
Shareowner-svcs@bankofny.com

The Bank of New York's
Stock Transfer Website:
http://www.stock.bankofny.com

~ Send Certificates for Transfer

and Address Changes to:
Receive and Deliver Department — 11W
P.O. Box 11002
Church Street Station
New York, NY 10286

STOCK DATA
CLOSING PRICES
HIGH Low

2001

First Quarter $38.90 $28.10
Second Quarter $36.47 $25.58
Third Quarter  $33.76  $22.50
Fourth Quarter $34.49 $23.50
2000

First Quarter $20.37 $15.00
Second Quarter $25.50 $17.56
Third Quarter ~ $27.33  $21.50
Fourth Quarter $39.37 $22.50
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